

CLARENT CORP/DE

FORM 10-Q (Quarterly Report)

Filed 05/08/02 for the Period Ending 09/30/01

Address 700 CHESAPEAKE DRIVE

650-306-7511

REDWOOD CITY, CA, 94063

Telephone 6503067511

CIK 0001068292

Symbol CLRN

SIC Code 7372 - Services-Prepackaged Software

Industry Communications & Networking

Sector Technology

Fiscal Year 12/31

CLARENT CORP/DE

FORM 10-Q (Quarterly Report)

Filed 5/8/2002 For Period Ending 9/30/2001

Address 700 CHESAPEAKE DRIVE 650-306-7511

REDWOOD CITY, California 94063

Telephone 650-306-7511

CIK 0001068292

Industry Communications Equipment

Sector Technology

Fiscal Year 12/31



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

☑ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2001

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission File Number 000-26441

CLARENT CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 77-0433687 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

700 Chesapeake Drive Redwood City, California 94063 (Address of principal executive offices and zip code)

(650) 306-7511 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ac
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

adject to such fining requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes □ No ☑
The number of shares outstanding of the Registrant's Common Stock, \$0.001 par value, was 41,001,419 at December 31, 2001.
This report consists of 51 pages of which this page is number 1.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CLARENT CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

SIGNATURES

Exhibit 10.32

EXHIBIT 10.33

EXPLANATORY NOTE

Subsequent to the issuance of Clarent Corporation's (the "Company") financial statements on its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q previously filed for the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company discovered accounting and financial irregularities affecting such financial statements. Many of these irregularities related to revenue recognition and cash reporting arising primarily from operations in the Company's Asia-Pacific regional office. The Company has determined that these irregularities require the restatement of certain of its previously issued financial statements. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001 is filed simultaneously with the filing of the Company's restatement of its financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2000, June 30, 2000, September 30, 2000, December 31, 2000, March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001, as well as for the year ended December 31, 2000. The circumstances necessitating the restatement and their effects for the quarter ended September 30, 2001 are more fully described in Notes 1 and 10 of Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the Company's current litigation proceedings are described in Item 1 of Part II and Note 18 of Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial statement information and related disclosures included in this filing reflect, where appropriate, changes as a result of the restatement. Statements used in this Form 10-Q containing the words (i) "now," "currently," "present," "to date," and words of similar import, and (ii) "knowledge," and words of similar import, are used to refer to conditions existing on the filing date of this Form 10-Q. We direct you to refer to the other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time after the date of this report for more current information regarding Clarent, including "Risk Factors that May Impact Future Operating Results."

CLARENT CORPORATION

FORM 10-Q INDEX

		Tage 140.
	PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements (Unaudited)	3
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2001 and December 31, 2000 (restated)	3
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 (restated)	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2001 and 2000 (restated)	5
	Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	6
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	23
	Risk Factors That May Impact Future Operating Results	35
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	47
	PART II: OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	48
Item 6.	Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K	50
Signature	es	51

PART I.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CLARENT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands)

	September 30, 2001	December 31, 2000
	(Unaudited)	(Restated)
ASSET	rs	
Current assets:	ф. 7.C 217	¢ 105 (07
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 76,317	\$ 185,627
Restricted cash	10,000	74.007
Short-term investments	9,959	74,987
Accounts receivable, gross	11,635	28,142
Receivables allowance	(2,827)	(6,973)
Accounts receivable, net	8,808	21,169
Inventories	11,351	17,662
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	3,547	5,942
repaid expenses and other current assets	3,547	3,742
Total current assets	119,982	305,387
Investments	6,890	14,479
Property and equipment, net	12,020	36,938
Goodwill, net	12,020	93,644
Purchased intangible assets, net		38,057
Deferred tax assets	_	14,534
Other assets	4,827	4,517
Note receivable from a leasing company	5,000	7,517
Note receivable from a leasing company		
Total assets	\$ 148,719	\$ 507,556
LIABILITIES AND STOCI	KHOLDERS' EQUITY	
Current liabilities:		
Line of credit	\$ 9,964	\$ —
Accounts payable	10,593	14,337
Deferred revenue	4,069	8,528
Accrued liabilities	18,076	22,775
Customer advances	20,892	2,551
Restructuring and merger related accrual	11,045	6,248
Total current liabilities	74,639	54,439
Deferred tax liabilities	_	14,534
Restructuring accrual — long term	34,150	_
Contingencies		
Stockholders' equity:		
Common stock	583,277	583,328
Deferred compensation	(1,644)	(9,740)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(861)	(326)
Accumulated deficit	(540,842)	(134,679)
Total stackholders' equity	39,930	120 502
Total stockholders' equity	39,930	438,583
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 148,719	\$ 507,556
Total habilities and stockholders equity	\$ 140,719	Ψ 501,550

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (In thousands, except per share amounts) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2001	2000	2001	2000
		(Restated)		(Restated)
Net revenue:				
Product and software	\$ 15,430	\$ 23,218	\$ 45,025	\$ 61,131
Service	3,308	4,003	12,331	9,566
Total revenue	18,738	27,221	57,356	70,697
Cost of revenue:				
Product and software	37,771	14,210	85,032	30,223
Service	3,429	2,176	11,725	5,894
Total cost of revenue	41,200	16,386	96,757	36,117
Gross profit (loss)	(22,462)	10,835	(39,401)	34,580
Operating expenses:	(22, 102)	10,033	(3), (01)	31,300
Research and development	14,759	8,414	45,992	18,320
Sales and marketing	17,881	15,255	67,507	38,129
General and administrative	7,952	5,092	20,214	10,399
Amortization of deferred compensation and other stock	1,552	3,072	20,211	10,577
compensation charges	1,855	1,763	6.037	4,073
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles	9,106	6,023	27,324	6,474
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles	99,149		99,149	_
Impairment of property and equipment	40,518	_	40,518	_
Restructuring and merger related costs	36,009	1,386	50,150	1,386
Purchased in-process research and development	_	31,496	_	31,496
Total operating expenses	227,229	69,429	356,891	110,277
Loss from operations	(249,691)	(58,594)	(396,292)	(75,697)
Other income (expense), net	(13,128)	5,088	(9,140)	13,602
Loss before provision for income taxes	(262,819)	(53,506)	(405,432)	(62,095)
Provision for income taxes	(405)	(2)	(730)	(286)
N. cl.,	Φ(2.62.22.4)	¢(52,500)	¢(40¢ 1¢2)	¢ (62.291)
Net loss	\$(263,224)	\$(53,508)	\$(406,162)	\$ (62,381)
Basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ (6.45)	\$ (1.47)	\$ (10.11)	\$ (1.85)
basic and diffused net foss per share	ψ (0.43)	ψ (1.47)	φ (10.11)	φ (1.65)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share	40,813	36,482	40,165	33,763

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands) (Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

	September 30,		
	2001	2000	
		(Restated)	
Operating activities:	Φ(40 C 1 CΩ)	Φ (62 201)	
Net loss	\$(406,162)	\$ (62,381)	
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:	15.670	C 001	
Depreciation and fixed asset impairment charges	15,678	6,081	
Impairment of property and equipment	40,518	_	
Amortization of deferred compensation and other stock compensation	6.027	4.072	
charges	6,037	4,073	
Loss on property and equipment disposal	314		
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles	29,403	6,860	
Purchased in-process research and development	_	31,496	
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles	99,149	_	
Impairment of investments	8,880	_	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	12,336	8,234	
Inventories	6,276	(4,801)	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	1,145	(84)	
Other assets	(310)	(1,339)	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(8,429)	(4,917)	
Deferred revenue	(4,459)	(740)	
Customer advances	18,341	7,164	
Restructuring and merger related accrual	42,096	6,354	
Restructuring and merger related accruai			
Net cash used in operating activities	(139,187)	(4,000)	
Investing activities:			
Purchases of short-term investments	(34,970)	(120,519)	
Purchases of long-term investments	(3,041)	(15,250)	
Sale and maturities of short-term investments	100,007	88,450	
Restricted cash	(10,000)	_	
Sale of long-term investments	3,000	_	
Note receivable from a leasing company	(5,000)	_	
Purchases of property and equipment	(31,997)	(19,026)	
Acquisition of businesses, net cash acquired	_	33,316	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	17,999	(33,029)	
Financing activities:			
Proceeds from line of credit	10,000	_	
Repayments of line of credit	(50)	_	
Proceeds from issuance of common stock	2,007	5,369	
Net cash provided by financing activities	11,957	5,369	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(79)	(89)	
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(109,310)	(31,749)	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	185,627	238,724	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 76,317	\$ 206,975	
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:			
Preferred stock received in exchange for settlement of accounts receivable	\$ —	\$ 1,500	
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition	\$ —	\$ 194,412	
Conversion of promissory notes into strategic investments	\$ 1,250	\$ 194,412	
conversion of profitisory notes into strategic investments	Ψ 1,230	Ψ —	

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company as of September 30, 2001 and for the three-and nine-months ended September 30, 2001 and September 30, 2000 (restated) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. In the opinion of management, the condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments that management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the interim periods shown. The results of operations for such periods are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or for any future period. The balance sheet at December 31, 2000 (restated) has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, as amended in connection with the restatement of the Company's financial statements. Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

Restatement of Financial Statements

On August 26, 2001, the Company's Board of Directors formed a special committee, comprised of three outside directors, Messrs. Pape, Forman and Barker. The special committee directed and instructed the Company's outside counsel to investigate certain facts that had come to the Board's attention and that the Board determined could reflect potential accounting and financial irregularities. The Company's outside counsel, at the direction of the special committee, requested the Company's independent auditors to assist in the investigation. On September 4, 2001, the Company announced that it had discovered accounting and financial irregularities that materially affected the Company announced that it also had discovered accounting and financial irregularities that materially affected the Company announced that it also had discovered accounting and financial irregularities that materially affected the Company's previously reported financial results for the year 2000.

To address the activities discovered in its investigation, the Company has implemented remedial actions, including the prompt termination of employees who appear to have been involved in activities relating to the irregularities, closure of the Company's Asia-Pacific regional headquarters, and the adoption of new and more stringent subsidiary cash control and expense approval policies, such as new banking and internal reporting procedures, improved controls over sales representatives and sales orders and hiring and payroll procedures, and new and more stringent credit approval policies.

In the course of the investigation, the Company discovered accounting and financial irregularities arising from activities that appear to have been initiated by a number of parties no longer associated with the Company, resulting in, among other things, an overstatement in revenue of an aggregate amount of \$129.4 million over the restated periods. The circumstances necessitating the restatement, and the impact on the Company, can be described in the following general categories:

Revenue Restatement:

• The Company discovered that its revenue had been overstated for certain periods because revenue from sales in the Asia-Pacific region had been recognized in situations where customers had indirectly received Company funds from third parties, by means of arrangements effected through unauthorized acts of Company employees. These arrangements were entered into in violation of Company procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

- Revenue also had been overstated for certain periods because revenue had been recognized from certain sales in the Asia-Pacific region where customers now claim to have return rights or that the Company has repurchase obligations. The Company now believes that certain Company personnel may have entered into agreements with customers in the Asia-Pacific region purporting to provide such return rights or repurchase obligations. These agreements were entered into in violation of Company procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company.
- The Company has restated revenue for certain periods because, based on current information and actual payment history, it now appears that certain customers may not have been creditworthy at the time of purchase.
- Revenue also had been overstated for certain periods because of transactions involving the sale of products over which the Company continued to have some control until a subsequent period.

Impact on Expenses:

- In connection with the restatement, the Company has adjusted certain accruals and reserves related to accounts receivable, warranty and inventory and has made reclassification entries. The Company also recorded additional losses in the form of restructuring and asset impairments in the third quarter of 2001. These losses resulted from what the Company now knows was an over-expansion of its operating capacity and operating expenses as well as the overall downturn in the telecommunications industry. The Company increased its operating capacity based on forecasts that included revenue levels that the Company now knows, based on the discovery of financial irregularities, were overstated, but which the Company believed at the time were appropriate.
- The Company also determined that expenses were understated because certain payments or loans made from the Asia-Pacific regional office were effected in violation of Company procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company. The Company believes that such payments or loans are not recoverable.

Financial Condition:

- The Company's cash position was overstated in the March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001 financial statements because personnel in the Asia Pacific region transferred cash in violation of the Company's policies and procedures. These cash transfers were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company. As a result, the cash transfers were accounted for in improper periods. As of September 30, 2001, in the aggregate, there was no direct material impact on the cash position of the Company as a result of the improper recording of these transactions, including the cash transfers, although the Company had recorded liabilities of approximately \$24 million associated with the irregularities giving rise to the restatement. As of the date of filing of this report, the Company's cash position has been materially impacted by several factors, as discussed below.
- The unauthorized transactions with third parties that appear to have used Company funds to purchase the Company's products had a material impact on the Company's financial condition because of the expense of the inventory for which the Company will probably not be able to recover any value and the associated distribution costs.
- The Company's primary source of liquidity is its operating cash flows, which have been disrupted by the activities giving rise to, and the impact of, the restatement as well as the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

• The Company suffered substantial operating losses due to the activities necessitating the restatement because it over-expanded its operating capacity and operating expenses in 2000 and the first two quarters of 2001. The Company increased its operating capacity based on forecasts that included revenue levels that the Company now knows, based on the discovery of financial irregularities, were overstated, but which the Company believed at the time were appropriate.

As a result of the information discovered in the investigation, the Company has determined that it is appropriate to restate its financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2000, June 30, 2000, September 30, 2000, December 31, 2000, March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001, as well as for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Recent Events

In January 2002, the Company engaged Regent Pacific Management Corporation, an international firm that specializes in the recovery and restructuring of under-performing companies, and appointed Gary J. Sbona of Regent Pacific as its chief executive officer. Mr. Sbona has also joined the Company's board of directors and has been appointed chairman of the board. On March 9, 2002, the Company appointed James B. Weil of Regent Pacific as its president.

At March 31, 2002, the Company's cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments were approximately \$34 million, which may not be adequate to meet the Company's operating cash needs through the end of 2002, unless the Company achieves increased revenues and further reduces its expenses. To reduce its expenditures, the Company restructured in several areas, including reducing staffing, implementing expense management and curtailing capital spending. For example, since July 2001, the Company's headcount decreased by approximately 82%, from approximately 1,018 employees to approximately 180 employees currently. In addition, the Company has sustained, and expects to continue to sustain, substantial expenses arising from the restatement of its financial statements and related litigation matters. Until the Company resolves the claims against it and reduces its commitments, the Company expects that its expenses will continue to exceed its revenues for the foreseeable future. The Company plans to take further measures to conserve cash, and to continue to evaluate its strategic alternatives.

For the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company reported revenues of \$18.7 million. In quarters subsequent to the quarter ended September 30, 2001, revenues have declined substantially. The Company's revenues have been, and the Company expects will continue to be, materially affected by the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment and by events causing, and the impact of, the restatement of its financial statements. The Company does not expect demand for its products to recover for the remainder of 2002, and the Company expects operating losses and negative cash flows from operations to continue for the foreseeable future.

If the Company is not able to achieve increased revenues and resolve the claims against it, or if the Company incurs unexpected expenditures, then it will need to reduce expenses further and raise additional funds to continue as a going concern. The Company continues to evaluate its strategic alternatives, including financing transactions or a sale of assets. Due to the unavailability of a public market for the Company's stock as well as the Company's current stock price, additional funding may not be available to the Company on favorable terms or at all. If the Company raises additional funds through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of its stockholders could be significantly diluted. Furthermore, these securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to the Company's common stock. If additional funding is not available when needed, the Company may be unable to continue as a going concern and achieve its intended business objectives.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to allowance for doubtful accounts, inventories, investments, deferred tax assets, intangible assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, restructuring, and contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized at the time of shipment of the products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, when no significant contractual obligations or acceptance terms, if any, remain outstanding and collection of the resulting receivable is deemed probable. Service revenue, which is substantially all maintenance revenue, is generally deferred and, in most cases, recognized when the services are performed. Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the service period obligations, which is typically one year. Cash payments received in advance of the recording of product or service revenue are recorded as customer advances. Amounts billed or received in advance of satisfying all revenue recognition criteria are classified as deferred revenue in the accompanying balance sheets.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investment securities with a maturity date from the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents, and investment securities with maturity from date of purchase of more than three months but less than one year to be short-term investments.

Management determines the appropriate classification of debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. To date, all investments have been classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported net-of-tax as a separate component of comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included in interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on specific identification. Premiums and discounts are amortized over the period from acquisition to maturity and are included in investment income along with interest and dividends.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Credit Evaluations

Financial instruments, which subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, primarily consist of cash, short and long-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents principally in domestic financial institutions of high-credit standing.

The Company's receivables are derived primarily from sales of software and hardware products and services to companies primarily in the domestic and international telecommunications arena. Approximately 19% of the accounts receivable at September 30, 2001 were from the Asia-Pacific region, 54% from Europe, Middle East and Africa and 27% from the Americas. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral. Reserves are maintained for potential credit losses.

A limited number of customers have historically accounted for a substantial portion of the Company's revenue. One customer accounted for 17% of net revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2001.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of potential uncollectability of its accounts receivables. The Company specifically analyzes its accounts receivable and historical bad debts, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends, and changes in its customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Historically, the Company has, from time to time, experienced material differences between its estimated allowance for doubtful accounts and actual results. If the financial condition of the Company's customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventory which is obsolete or in excess of the Company's forecasted usage is written down to its estimated market value based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions. See Note 4 "Inventories" for further discussion on charges incurred during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 and 2000.

Investments

Long-term investments primarily consist of strategic investments of less than 20% equity interest in certain private companies. The Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over any of these companies, therefore these investments are recorded at cost and are accounted for under the cost method of accounting. Realized gains and losses are recorded in interest and other income when the related investments are sold. The Company's long-term investments in privately held companies are regularly assessed for impairment through review of operations and indications of continued viability of such companies. The Company's reviews of operations of these companies, to assess the carrying values of these investments, include evaluation of operating performance, financing status, liquidity prospects and cash flow forecasts. Impairment losses on these long-term investments are recorded when events and circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the decline in value is other than temporary.

Property & Equipment, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Property and equipment are stated at the lower of cost or fair value. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives ranging from one to three years are used for computer equipment, purchased software, production and engineering equipment and five-year lives for office equipment, furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of five years or the remaining term of the applicable lease.

Intangible assets consisted of the Company's assembled workforce, customer base, purchased technology and goodwill related to the acquisitions of ACT Networks, Inc., PEAK Software Inc. and Global Media Concepts. These acquisitions were accounted for as purchases. Goodwill and other intangible assets are amortized, on a straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from three to five years. Purchased in-process research and development, without alternative future use, was charged to operations at the date of acquisition.

The Company records impairment losses on goodwill, intangible assets and fixed assets when events and circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the estimated fair value of such asset is less than its recorded amount. Conditions that would trigger an impairment assessment include material adverse changes in operations or a decision to abandon products, services or technologies. Measurement of fair value is based on discounted cash flows and utilizes the Company's incremental borrowing rate. As of September 30, 2001, the Company has determined that all goodwill and other intangible assets and a substantial portion of its

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

fixed assets are impaired, and consequently has recorded an impairment charge to reduce the recorded value to fair value. See Note 6 "Impairment of Goodwill, Intangibles, and Property and Equipment" for further discussion.

Warranties

The Company's warranty policy generally states that the Company will provide warranty coverage, for a predetermined amount of time, on products for material and labor to repair and service the products. The Company records the estimated cost of warranty coverage upon product shipment. The estimated cost of warranty coverage is determined by the warranty term as well as the average historical warranty expense for a specific product. Should actual product failure rates or material usage costs differ from the Company's estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty and installation liability may be required.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS 141"). SFAS 141 requires the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method for business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 also includes guidance on the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations completed after June 30, 2001. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141 to have a material effect on its financial conditions or results of operations.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142"). SFAS 142 discontinues amortization of goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives and requires such assets to be reviewed at least annually for impairment. SFAS 142 also includes provisions on the identification of intangible assets, reclassification of certain intangibles from previously reported goodwill, and reassessment of the useful lives of existing intangibles. The Company will apply SFAS 142 beginning in the first quarter of 2002. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 142 to have a material effect on its financial conditions or results of operations.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" ("SFAS 143") which addresses accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this new standard, and as such, it is possible that its adoption could have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144, "Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" ("SFAS 144") which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of" and provides a single accounting model for impairment of long-lived assets. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this new standard, and as such, it is possible that its adoption could have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities may have the right to prepay or call obligations without prepayment penalties. Realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities were not material for the nine months ended September 30, 2001.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

	September 30, 2001	December 31, 2000
		(Restated)
Raw materials	\$ 8,992	\$10,901
Work-in-process	_	83
Finished goods	2,359	6,678
	\$11,351	\$17,662

Inventory charges totaling \$27.5 million and \$56.8 million were taken during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, respectively, reflecting excess inventories resulting from changes in forecasted demand, the Company's decision to discontinue certain products, the write-down of leased inventory and product costs associated with products shipped to certain customers in the Asia-Pacific region for which revenue was not recognizable, and for which the inventory shipped is not expected to be recoverable.

5. INVESTMENTS

The Company invests in equity instruments of privately held companies for the promotion of business and strategic objectives. The Company has also invested in a venture capital management fund. These investments are recorded at their initial fair value, net of impairment losses. Impairment losses are recorded when events and circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the decline in value is other than temporary. Through September 30, 2001, the Company had invested \$7.5 million in a venture capital management fund. The Company is committed to investing an additional \$7.5 million in the venture capital management fund through 2007.

At September 30, 2001, the Company recorded impairment losses on strategic investments of \$6.1 and \$8.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, resulting in a net book value of \$6.9 million. The losses represent the write-down of the Company's carrying amount of these investments and were determined by considering, among other factors, the inability of the investees to obtain additional private financing, the suspension of one investee's current operations, and the uncertain financial condition of the investees and the market in which they operate. As such, the Company believes the changes in the current market environment and decrease in the valuations of these companies are other than temporary, and it has written down the carrying value accordingly.

6. IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, INTANGIBLES AND PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Company has evaluated the carrying value of certain long-lived assets and acquired intangibles, consisting primarily of goodwill and tangible fixed assets, recorded on its balance sheet at September 30, 2001. Pursuant to accounting rules, the majority of goodwill is recorded based on stock prices at the time acquisition agreements are executed and announced. Goodwill and intangible assets are generally evaluated on an individual acquisition, market, or product basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such assets are impaired or the estimated useful lives are no longer appropriate. Periodically, the Company reviews its goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the assets in accordance with SFAS No. 121. In the event such cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the recorded value of the assets, the assets are written down to their estimated fair values based on the expected discounted future cash flows attributable to the assets.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During the third quarter of 2001, the Company determined that due to the continuing downturn of the telecommunications market as well as the activities giving rise to, and the impact of, the restatement on the Company's business, the carrying amounts of certain assets might be impaired. The Company then determined that the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2001, the Company recorded an impairment charge against the goodwill and intangibles associated with its business acquisitions of PEAK Software Solutions, Inc. and ACT Networks, Inc., acquired in 2000 due to circumstances described above. The Company calculated the impairment charge by comparing the expected discounted future cash flows to the carrying amount of the related intangible assets with some weighting attributed to a market based approach. The values assigned by the Company to the assets resulting from the impairment analysis were based upon established valuation techniques provided by an independent firm. The cash flow periods used were over 4.25 years including annual growth rates of 10% to 25%, a discount rate of 27% and a terminal value based upon a sales market multiple of 1.2. The assumptions supporting the estimated future cash flows, including the discount rate and estimated terminal values reflect management's best estimates. The discount rate was based upon the Company's weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the risks associated with its operations. This resulted in a \$99.1 million write-down of goodwill and other intangible assets and a \$40.5 million write-down of property and equipment for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

7. RESTRUCTURING ACCRUAL

In May 2001, the Company announced a restructuring program to prioritize its initiatives around high-growth areas of its business, reduce expenses, and improve efficiency. This restructuring resulted in part from the significant slowdown in the overall telecommunications market, as well as the Company's plan to align its cost structure with anticipated revenues.

The May 2001 restructuring plan resulted in a 10% reduction in the number of regular employees across all business functions, operating units, and geographic regions. All employees who have been included in the restructuring charge were identified, and the Company was able to estimate the aggregate severance benefits the Company would be providing in connection with the reduction in workforce. The Company recorded a restructuring charge related to the reduction in workforce and excess facilities of approximately \$14.1 million in the second quarter of 2001. This charge includes \$3.2 million of severance payments and other employee related costs for approximately 90 employees and 20 contractors, and an accrual of \$10.9 million for losses associated with excess facility space.

In July 2001, the Company announced an additional reduction of approximately 27% of its workforce. Additionally, the Company announced a further reduction of approximately 50% of the Company's remaining workforce in September 2001 in order to align its cost structure with its anticipated revenues. The Company recorded a restructuring charge related to these reductions in workforce and excess facilities and equipment of approximately \$37.0 million in the third quarter of 2001. This charge includes \$5.7 million of severance payments and other employee related costs for approximately 290 employees, and \$31.3 million for excess facility space. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, the Company made payments of \$6.4 million and \$8.8 million for severance and other costs against the restructuring reserve.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table summarizes the activity in the restructuring accrual for 2001 (in thousands):

	Facility Closure Costs	Severance Costs	Other Employee Termination Costs	Total
Restructuring reserve:				
Balance at January 1, 2001	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —
Accrued and expensed in Q2, 2001	10,902	2,600	639	14,141
Charged against accrual in Q2, 2001	(592)	(1,623)	(120)	(2,335)
Balance at June 30, 2001	10,310	977	519	11,806
Accrued and expensed in Q3, 2001	31,347	5,587	107	37,041
Charged against accrual in Q3, 2001	(756)	(5,629)	(40)	(6,425)
Balance at September 30, 2001	\$40,901	\$ 935	\$ 586	\$42,422
,				
Short-term portion of restructuring accrual	6,751	935	586	8,272
Long-term portion of restructuring accrual	34,150	_	_	34,150
Total restructuring accrual	\$40,901	\$ 935	\$ 586	\$42,422

At September 30, 2001, the remaining restructuring accrual was approximately \$42.4 million. The remaining \$42.4 million accrual is expected to be paid out through February 2011 as follows (in thousands):

Year	Employee Related Commitments	Facility Closure Commitments
2001	\$1,521	\$ 1,688
2002	_	7,004
2003	_	5,197
2004	_	4,835
2005	_	3,365
Thereafter	_	18,812
	\$1,521	\$40,901

8. MERGER COSTS

In August 2000, the Company acquired ACT Networks, Inc., a leading provider of multi-service access and voice/ data integration products that enable the convergence of voice, video and data onto one managed network (the "Enterprise Products"). In accordance with a plan that existed at the time of the acquisition, the Company established accruals for merger related restructuring costs. At September 30, 2001, \$2.8 million in accruals related to the ACT acquisition remained. These accruals include costs of exiting non-cancelable operating leases for the Calabasas, California manufacturing facility of \$3.8 million as recorded at the date of the acquisition. During the three months ended September 30, 2001, the Company revised upwards its estimates of the likely sublease income from this facility and therefore recorded a reduction in the accrual of \$1.0 million. This has been reflected as an offset to the restructuring expense recorded in the three months ended September 30, 2001. The Company has outsourced the manufacturing of the Enterprise Products to a contract manufacturer and ceased production at the Calabasas facility at the end of the second quarter of 2001. As of September 30, 2001, the Company was disposing of the remaining manufacturing equipment.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

9. CUSTOMER ADVANCES

As of September 30, 2001, the Company received funds totaling \$20.9 million from certain customers in the Asia-Pacific region. These payments are currently recorded as customer advances. These advances consist of funds received from customers and the Company now believes that these funds may be subject to refund, because (i) the Company is aware of a purported return right with respect to certain products, (ii) the customer has not accepted possession of certain products or (iii) the funds may be subject to the payment of a guaranty obligation purportedly entered into by the Company for a loan to a customer, which the Company believes was used to purchase the Company's products.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions With Management and Others

On April 25, 2000, AginfoLink USA, Inc. ("AginfoLink") borrowed \$250,000, pursuant to a promissory note, from Matthew Chiang, in his individual capacity, who was a non-officer employee of the Company at the time. Mr. Chiang served as President of the Company's Asia-Pacific regional office from January 2001 to September 2001. The Company believes that William Pape, a director of the Company, holds a minority equity interest in AginfoLink and serves on the board of directors of AginfoLink. In the promissory note, AginfoLink agreed to repay the loan principal, as well as accrued and unpaid interest, on May 31, 2000. AginfoLink has informed the Company that it has taken the necessary steps to tender payment of the outstanding amount under this loan.

Note Receivable from a Leasing Company

In January 2001, the Company advanced \$5.0 million to Clarent Finance, LLC ("Clarent Finance"), a leasing company, for a six-year, eleven percent junior subordinated debenture. The interest shall be accrued and due by November 30, 2008. The principal is repayable in 16 equal quarterly payments of \$312,500 each, commencing January 2005, and is due in full by November 30, 2008.

The Company entered into a remarketing agreement with Clarent Finance in January 2001 to provide for the remarketing of certain equipment manufactured by the Company, purchased by Clarent Finance and leased to the Company's customers. Under the terms of the remarketing agreement, if remarketing proceeds are insufficient to equal the remaining defaulted lessee obligation, the Company is obligated to either pay the remaining lessee obligation to Clarent Finance or apply the shortage as a credit on the next equipment lease purchase in the program. At September 30, 2001, finance receivables for Clarent Finance totaled \$1.6 million.

As a result of its remarketing obligations to Clarent Finance, the Company defers the recognition of all revenue and thereby establishes a liability for all amounts to be earned from leasing arrangements with Clarent Finance. At September 30, 2001, the Company's recorded liability approximated its obligation under the remarketing agreement. As of September 30, 2001 operating expenses for Clarent Finance had been immaterial.

On March 29, 2002 the Company purchased Clarent Finance for \$275,000 in the form of forgiveness of a receivable. The Company received approximately \$3.4 million in cash and a lease portfolio of \$1.8 million (of which the Company had previously recorded a liability under the remarketing agreement of \$1.5 million as of September 30, 2001) and extinguished a note owed to the Company of \$5.0 million.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Transactions Related to Asia-Pacific Region

The Company entered into various transactions with entities that, as a result of the investigation, the Company now believes are controlled by Matthew Chiang or members of his immediate family. Mr. Chiang was employed by the Company as a Marketing Director of the Asia-Pacific region from July 1997 to June 1999, a Director, Product and Market Strategy from July 1999 to December 2000 and the Company's Vice President and General Manager of the Asia Pacific region and served as the President of its Asia-Pacific regional office from January 2001 to September 2001. The entities believed to be controlled by Mr. Chiang or members of his immediate family are Great MinCom Communication Corporation (which the Company believes is also known as Great MinCom Products Corporation and collectively, "Great MinCom") and Articula Corporation ("Articula"). The Company believes that Mr. Chiang may have had a direct or indirect material interest in each of the transactions between the Company, Great MinCom and Articula. The Company believes that Jerry Chang, who was a director of the Company from July 1996 to September 2001, the Company's President from July 1996 to April 2001, Chief Executive Officer from July 1996 to July 2001 and Chief Strategist from July 2001 to September 2001, may have an indirect financial interest in Articula.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company sold products with an aggregate value of approximately \$4.1 million to Great MinCom.

In December 2000 and March 2001, transfers of Company funds of \$6.0 million and \$7.0 million, respectively, were made to Great MinCom, with the funds intended for use as bid deposits in connection with certain proposed transactions in the Asia Pacific region (the "Bid Deposits"). As a result of the investigation, the Company has now determined that personnel in the Asia-Pacific region improperly reported that the second transfer to Great MinCom occurred in the second quarter of 2001 when the second transfer actually occurred in the first quarter of 2001, resulting in a \$7.0 million overstatement of the Company's cash balance at March 31, 2001.

In June 2001, the Company and Great MinCom entered into a Confirmation Agreement pursuant to which Great MinCom agreed to return the funds advanced as Bid Deposits to the Company by December 31, 2001, unless Great MinCom secured contracts for the proposed transactions relating to the Bid Deposits, in which case Great MinCom agreed to return the funds advanced as Bid Deposits after completion of the transactions. As a result of the investigation, the Company now believes that the funds advanced as Bid Deposits were not used for their intended purpose and are not recoverable.

From April to July 2001, an additional \$43.0 million was transferred by the Asia-Pacific regional office to Great MinCom and Articula in violation of the Company's financial control procedures. After transfer of these funds, the Company received promissory notes in exchange for the cash. These promissory notes are: a promissory note from Articula in the amount of \$3.0 million (bearing interest of 4.15% per annum from May 3, 2001); a promissory note from Great MinCom in the amount of \$2.4 million (bearing interest of 4.15% per annum from May 21, 2001); and a convertible promissory note from Articula and Great MinCom in the amount of \$37.6 million (bearing interest of 5.0% per annum from July 25, 2001 and due in January 2002). At the same time as the execution of the \$37.6 million convertible promissory note, the Company entered into a Strategic Partner Agreement with Articula and Great MinCom as of July 25, 2001, pursuant to which Articula and Great MinCom, among other things, agreed to provide sales and marketing support to the Company and to use the Company as their exclusive supplier of VoIP products.

None of the amounts covered by the two promissory notes executed in May 2001 and the promissory note executed in July 2001 had been repaid as of the date of this filing. As a result of the investigation, the Company has now determined that \$36.5 million had been transferred prior to the end of the second quarter of 2001 but not reported to the appropriate Company personnel, resulting in a \$36.5 million overstatement of the cash balance for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2001.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

An aggregate of \$3.0 million of the funds transferred to Articula and Great MinCom by the Company's Asia-Pacific regional office was intended for use as partial payment for the Company's obligations under: a Joint Marketing Agreement dated as of April 4, 2001 between the Company and Articula pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay Articula \$3.0 million; and a Consulting Services Agreement dated as of May 10, 2001 between the Company and Great MinCom pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay Great MinCom \$1.1 million. In connection with the Consulting Services Agreement, Great MinCom agreed to assist the Company with the development of channel partner relationships for network design and system integration.

Principal of approximately \$43.0 million plus accrued interest is outstanding under the various promissory notes as of September 30, 2001. As a result of the investigation and restatement the Company has now determined that a significant portion of the funds related to the \$43.0 million, as well as the \$13.0 million in Bid Deposits mentioned above and the \$11.0 million from the guaranty noted below, may have been used by third parties to purchase the Company's products from the Company's customers. As a result, the Company reversed all revenue associated with the product's original sale and expensed the associated inventory in the same period that the revenue was originally recognized because it is not believed to be recoverable and, for accounting purposes only, recorded any payment associated with the reversed revenue transactions as a reduction in the notes receivable balances. Remaining notes receivable balances of approximately \$8.2 million were provided for by charges to other expense during the third quarter of 2001 due to the doubtful probability of collection. Although accounted for as described above, as of the date of this filing, the notes remain outstanding and unpaid. The Company reserves its rights to pursue collection of the entire principal balance plus accrued interest for each of the loans and the Bid Deposit amounts, in addition to other remedies or actions available to the Company.

D-Link Corporation ("D-Link"), a distributor and supplier to the Company, claims that on July 3, 2001 the Company executed a guaranty of Articula's repayment of an \$11.0 million loan from D-Link to Articula. The purported guaranty was not reported to the appropriate personnel in the Company by the executive who signed the guaranty in violation of the Company's procedures. The Company now believes that, as of the date of this filing, Articula had repaid \$2.0 million of the amount purportedly guarantied by the Company. The Company has recorded a liability of \$9.0 million (in customer advances) in its September 30, 2001 financials as a result of this purported guaranty.

During May through July 2001, Mr. Chiang, the President of the Company's Asia-Pacific regional office, received from the Company cash advances or effected loans in violation of the Company's policies in the amount of approximately \$1.1 million, all of which is outstanding, but fully reserved for, as of September 30, 2001. Mr. Chiang also effected loans and investments from the Asia-Pacific regional office in violation of the Company's financial control policies, in the amount of approximately \$703,000, some of which directly or indirectly benefited Mr. Chiang. These transactions were not reported to the appropriate personnel in the Company and the amounts remain outstanding, but fully reserved for, as of September 30, 2001. The Company now believes that these loans and investments resulted in the payments of Company funds to customers who used Company funds for the purchase of Company products. The Company has reversed all revenue associated with the original recording of revenue of such products and expensed the associated inventory in the same period that the revenue was originally recognized.

Indebtedness of Management

As described in "Transactions Related to Asia-Pacific Region," Mr. Chiang, a former executive of the Company, and certain entities affiliated with Mr. Chiang are currently indebted to the Company.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

11. LINE OF CREDIT

In June 2001 the Company obtained a \$10.0 million line of credit with a financial institution to provide working capital for the Company. The entire balance had been borrowed and remained outstanding at September 30, 2001. The interest rate on this credit facility is variable and is equal to the prime rate (6.0% at September 30, 2001). Under the terms of this arrangement, the Company must maintain a restricted cash balance of \$10.0 million until the line is converted to a receivables backed facility. The line of credit expires on June 30, 2002. As of the date of the filing of this report, there is no outstanding balance under this line of credit.

12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

In January 2001, the Company increased the aggregate number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 1999 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the "1999 Plan") by 987,966 or 2.5% of the Company's outstanding shares, measured as of that date. This increase was in accordance with the provisions of the 1999 Plan. On June 7, 2001, the Company's stockholders approved an amendment to the 1999 Plan to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance by 1,000,000 shares from 17,780,431 shares to 18,780,431.

On February 14, 2001, the Company cancelled approximately 2.9 million outstanding options under an Option Cancellation and Regrant program (the "Program") for employees. Replacement options to purchase approximately 635,000 shares of common stock were granted to employees on February 15, 2001 at the fair market value of \$13.625 per share. These shares vested in full on August 15, 2001 and will expire on November 15, 2001 if they are unexercised. In addition, the Company granted replacement options to purchase approximately 916,000 shares of common stock to employees on August 17, 2001 at the fair market value of \$6.30 per share under the Program. The options granted on August 17, 2001 vest ratably each month over a 24-month period, have a 10-year term and are subject to variable accounting.

In February 2001, the Company adopted a Share Purchase Rights Plan designed to guard against abusive takeover tactics.

13. SEGMENTS OF AN ENTERPRISE AND RELATED INFORMATION

The Company operates in one industry segment. The Company designs, develops and sells Internet protocol telephony, or IP telephony systems. Net revenue for non-U.S. location is substantially the result of export sales from the U.S.

Net revenue by geographic region based on customer location are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2001	2000	2001	2000
		(Restated)		(Restated)
Net revenue by geographic region:				
United States	\$ 5,219	\$10,610	\$17,218	\$24,844
Other Americas	873	4,319	3,597	7,996
Europe, Middle East and Africa	9,604	6,018	22,720	16,562
Asia Pacific	3,042	6,274	13,821	21,295
Total	\$18,738	\$27,221	\$57,356	\$70,697

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

14. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes of \$405,000 and \$730,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 consists of foreign income taxes provided on the profits attributable to the Company's foreign operations. The Company's effective tax rates differed from the combined federal and state statutory rates due primarily to acquisition charges that were non-deductible for tax purposes.

15. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period less outstanding shares subject to a right of repurchase by the Company. Outstanding shares subject to repurchase are not included in the computations of basic and diluted net loss per share until the time-based vesting restrictions have lapsed.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Three Months Ended September 30,			nths Ended nber 30,
	2001	2000	2001	2000
		(Restated)		(Restated)
Numerator:				
Net loss	\$(263,224)	\$(53,508)	\$(406,162)	\$(62,381)
Denominator:				
Weighted average shares outstanding	40,813	36,482	40,165	33,826
Less shares subject to repurchase	_	_	_	(63)
Denominator for basic and diluted net loss per share	40,813	36,482	40,165	33,763
•				
Basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ (6.45)	\$ (1.47)	\$ (10.11)	\$ (1.85)
•				

In periods with a net loss, the Company excludes outstanding stock options and shares subject to repurchase from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share because all such securities are anti-dilutive. The total number of shares excluded from the calculations of diluted net loss per share were 1,317,000 and 2,100,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, and 5,121,000 and 5,921,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000.

16. COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The Company's total comprehensive loss is as follows (in thousands):

				nths Ended mber 30,	
	2001	2000	2001	2000	
		(Restated)		(Restated)	
Net loss	\$(263,224)	\$(53,508)	\$(406,162)	\$(62,381)	
Other comprehensive income (loss):					
Translation adjustments	90	(116)	(544)	(137)	
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments	30	9	9	(20)	
Comprehensive loss	\$(263,104)	\$(53,615)	\$(406,697)	\$(62,538)	

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

17. COMMITMENTS

At September 30, 2001 the Company had operating lease commitments of approximately \$72.5 million that are due and payable through 2011. At September 30, 2001, the Company had expensed approximately \$37.2 million that had been accrued as part of our restructuring and merger related accruals.

18. LITIGATION

Beginning in July 2001, the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants in several class action shareholder complaints filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, collectively captioned In re Clarent Corp. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation. These lawsuits purport to bring suit on behalf of all purchasers of the Company's common stock between July 1, 1999 and December 6, 2000. In these actions, the plaintiffs allege that the Company, certain of its officers and directors and the underwriters of its initial public offering ("IPO") violated the federal securities laws because the Company's IPO registration statement and prospectus purportedly contained untrue statements of material fact or omitted material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The plaintiffs further allege that the prospectus relating to the Company's secondary offering was false and misleading for the same reasons. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same Court against hundreds of other public companies that conducted IPOs of their common stock since the late 1990s (the "IPO Lawsuits"). On August 8, 2001, the IPO Lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States Judge Shira Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. Judge Scheindlin held an initial case management conference on September 7, 2001, at which time she ordered, among other things, that the time for all defendants to respond to any complaint be postponed until further order of the Court. Thus, the Company has not been required to answer any of the complaints, and no discovery has been served on the Company. In accordance with Judge Scheindlin's orders at further status conferences in March and April, the appointed lead plaintiffs' counsel filed amended, consolidated complaints in the IPO Lawsuits on April 19, 2002. However, Judge Scheindlin does not expect any of the defendants to file motions to dismiss the amended, consolidated complaints until at least summer of 2002.

In September and October 2001, a series of securities law class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers and directors. The plaintiffs in each of these actions allege, among other things, violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, due to the filing with the SEC of allegedly false financial statements concerning the Company's results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000, and the first and second quarters of 2001. The original complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. In November 2001, the court entered an order consolidating these actions into a single action, and in December 2001 appointed a lead class plaintiff. A consolidated complaint has not yet been filed. No discovery has taken place and no trial date has been set.

In October and November 2001, four shareholder derivative actions were filed against the Company, three in the Delaware Chancery Court and one in California Superior Court. In November 2001, the three Delaware shareholder derivative actions were consolidated into a single action. The plaintiffs in these actions claim to be suing on the Company's behalf and name various of the Company's current and former officers and directors as defendants. The complaints assert several claims, including breach of fiduciary duties, corporate waste, abuse of control, unjust enrichment, usurpation of corporate opportunities and mismanagement, resulting from, among other things, the Company's reporting of allegedly false financial statements concerning the Company's results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000 and the first and second quarters of 2001, the Company's alleged failure to disclose information regarding the Company's operations and the defendants' alleged failure to implement and maintain adequate internal financial controls.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. The plaintiff in the California action has commenced discovery against the defendants. However, the Company is seeking a protective order relating to certain of the discovery requests. Discovery has not commenced in the Delaware action. On March 23, 2002, the Company's Board of Directors formed a special litigation committee of the Board of Directors to investigate the plaintiffs' allegations. No trial date has been set in either action.

On December 31, 2001, D-Link Corporation ("D-Link"), a distributor and supplier to the Company, filed two complaints in California Superior Court in which D-Link asserted various breach of contract claims against the Company. D-Link seeks damages of approximately \$19.0 million plus interest with respect to these alleged breaches of contracts. On March 5, 2002 the court consolidated the two actions. The Company has filed a cross-complaint against D-Link alleging breach of contract and breach of warranty. The Company has answered D-Link's complaints, denying all material allegations and asserting various affirmative defenses. Discovery has commenced with respect to both of the D-Link complaints, but a trial date has not been set.

In December 2001, the Company received letters from Bright Oceans Corporation (HK) Limited ("Bright Oceans") in which Bright Oceans asserted possible claims against the Company. Bright Oceans claimed that it purchased products from the Company on purchase orders subject to a right of return. Bright Oceans seeks recovery of \$4.6 million plus interest and expenses based on its purported right of return.

On April 12, 2002, a civil complaint for violations of the federal securities laws was filed against the Company and certain of its officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota entitled *Ahlstrom, et al. v. Clarent Corporation, et al.* The plaintiffs in this action include Irwin L. Jacobs and a number of investors apparently affiliated with him. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants intentionally issued false financial reports for the Company between March 2001 and August 2001 in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and similar provisions of Minnesota law. The Company currently believes that this litigation will be coordinated or consolidated for most pre-trial purposes with the other securities law class action matters currently pending against the Company. This matter is at an early stage. No response to the complaint has yet been filed, and no discovery has taken place.

On April 26, 2002, certain former shareholders of PEAK Software Solutions, Inc. ("PEAK"), some of whom are current employees of the Company, including a key employee of the Company, filed a lawsuit against the Company in Colorado state court. The complaint alleges claims for common law fraud, securities fraud and breach of contract relating to the Company's acquisition of PEAK in July 2000. The complaint does not specify the damages sought. The complaint has not yet been served and no response has been filed.

The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against these allegations. However, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 29, 2002, the Company was notified that its securities would be delisted by Nasdaq effective January 30, 2002 as a result of (i) its failure to file its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001, (ii) the failure of its annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 to contain audited financial statements because its auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, informed the Company that its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000 should no longer be relied upon as a result of the matters which gave rise to the need for a special investigation, and for which the investigation and resulting restated financial statements were not complete, rendering the Company's financial statements unaudited at that time, and (iii) public interest concerns related to the protection of the Company's investors.

In February 2002 the Company commenced a further reduction of its worldwide workforce by approximately 190 people to approximately 180 employees. This action is expected to result in a charge of approximately \$3.0 million during the first quarter of 2002.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In January 2002, the Company engaged Regent Pacific Management Corporation, an international firm that specializes in the recovery and restructuring of under-performing companies and appointed Gary J. Sbona of Regent Pacific as chief executive officer. Mr. Sbona has also joined the Company's board of directors and has been appointed the chairman of the board. On March 9, 2002, the Company appointed James B. Weil of Regent Pacific as president.

On March 29, 2002 the Company purchased Clarent Finance, LLC for \$275,000 in the form of forgiveness of a receivable. The Company received approximately \$3.4 million in cash and a lease portfolio of \$1.8 million, of which the Company had previously recorded a liability under a remarketing agreement of \$1.5 million, and extinguished a note owed to the Company of \$5.0 million.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes. Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A, including, without limitation, statements containing the words "believe," "anticipate," "estimate," "expect," and words of similar import, constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks faced by us described below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, and in other documents we file with the SEC.

Overview

Clarent Corporation is a leading provider of softswitch and Internet Protocol (IP) communications solutions that take advantage of the flexibility and universal reach of IP networks, the most prominent of which is the public network known as the Internet. Our software platform and softswitch solutions, in conjunction with our hardware, or equipment provided by others, enable service providers to deliver simultaneous transmission of voice, fax and data over IP networks.

Our customers include service providers, system integrators, resellers and enterprises. Service provider customers include traditional local, international and wholesale long distance telecommunication companies, as well as "next generation" service providers, including Internet Service Providers (ISP's), Application Service Providers (ASP's), web-to-phone providers and others employing Internet-based business models

We sell our products both through distributors and our direct sales force. We have sales and support personnel based in a number of countries and locations throughout the United States.

Our operations and prospects have been and we expect will be significantly affected by the developments leading to and relating to the restatement of our 2001 and 2000 financial statements. The circumstances necessitating the restatement, and the impact on us, can be described in the following general categories:

Revenue Restatement:

- We discovered that our revenue had been overstated for certain periods because revenue from sales in the Asia-Pacific region had been recognized in situations where customers had indirectly received our funds from third parties, by means of arrangements effected through unauthorized acts of our employees. These arrangements were entered into in violation of our procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company.
- Revenue also had been overstated for certain periods because revenue had been recognized from certain sales in the Asia-Pacific region where customers now claim to have return rights or that we have repurchase obligations. We now believe that certain of our personnel may have entered into agreements with customers in the Asia-Pacific region purporting to provide such return rights or repurchase obligations. These agreements were entered into in violation of our procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company.
- We have restated revenue for certain periods because, based on current information and actual payment history, it now appears that certain customers may not have been creditworthy at the time of purchase.
- Revenue also had been overstated for certain periods because of transactions involving the sale of products over which we continued to have some control until a subsequent period.

Impact on Expenses:

• In connection with the restatement, we have adjusted certain accruals and reserves related to accounts receivable, warranty and inventory and have made reclassification entries. We also recorded additional

losses in the form of restructuring and asset impairments in the third quarter of 2001. These losses resulted from what we now know was an over-expansion of our operating capacity and operating expenses as well as the overall downturn in the telecommunications industry. We increased our operating capacity based on forecasts that included revenue levels that we now know, based on the discovery of financial irregularities, were overstated, but which we believed at the time were appropriate.

• We also determined that expenses were understated because certain payments or loans made from the Asia-Pacific regional office were effected in violation of our procedures and were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company. We believe that such payments or loans are not recoverable.

Financial Condition:

- Our cash position was overstated in the March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001 financial statements because personnel in the Asia Pacific region transferred cash in violation of the our policies and procedures. These cash transfers were not reported to the appropriate personnel within the Company. As a result, the cash transfers were accounted for in improper periods. As of September 30, 2001, in the aggregate, there was no direct material impact on our cash position as a result of the improper recording of these transactions, including the cash transfers, although we had recorded liabilities of approximately \$24 million associated with the irregularities giving rise to the restatement. As of the date of filing of this report, our cash position has been materially impacted by several factors, as discussed below.
- The unauthorized transactions with third parties that appear to have used our funds to purchase our products had a material impact on our financial condition because of the expense of the inventory for which we will probably not be able to recover any value and the associated distribution costs.
- Our primary source of liquidity is our operating cash flows, which have been disrupted by the activities giving rise to, and the impact of, the restatement as well as the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment.
- We suffered substantial operating losses due to the activities necessitating the restatement because we over-expanded our operating capacity and operating expenses in 2000 and the first two quarters of 2001. We increased our operating capacity based on forecasts that included revenue levels that we now know, based on the discovery of irregularities, were overstated, but which we believed at the time were appropriate.

To address the activities discovered in our investigation, we have implemented remedial actions, including the prompt termination of employees who appear to have been involved in activities relating to the irregularities, closure of our Asia-Pacific regional headquarters, and the adoption of new and more stringent subsidiary cash control and expense approval policies, such as new banking and internal reporting procedures, improved controls over sales representatives and sales orders and hiring and payroll procedures, and new and more stringent credit approval policies.

We direct you to refer to Note 1 of Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more current information regarding the restatement.

Critical Accounting Policies

In the ordinary course of business, we have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of results of operations and financial condition in the preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates if our assumptions are incorrect. We believe that the following discussion addresses our most critical accounting policies. Such policies are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require management's most difficult, subjective and complex

judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenues from sale of our hardware, licenses of our software and the sale of professional services and technical support. Our product sales, including our license arrangements, do not provide for a right of return. Our license arrangements are perpetual licenses. We sell our products primarily through a direct sales force and distributors.

We sell our hardware and software in bundled units and recognize revenue in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, *Software Revenue Recognition* (SOP 97-2), as amended by SOP 98-9, and generally recognize revenue when all of the following criteria are met as set forth in SOP 97-2:

- persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
- · delivery has occurred,
- the fee is fixed or determinable and
- collectibility is probable.

We define each of the four criteria above as follows:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Our policy is to confirm each sale with a written contract or purchase order, which is signed by both the customer and us.

Delivery has occurred. Delivery has occurred when products have been shipped to the customer.

The fee is fixed or determinable. We do not provide customers the right to refund any portion of their purchases. If an arrangement is not considered fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized as payments become due.

Collectibility is probable. Collectibility is assessed on a customer-by-customer basis. Customers are subjected to a credit review process, which evaluates the customers' financial positions and ultimately their ability to pay. If we determine from the outset of an arrangement that collectibility is not probable based upon our credit review process, revenue is recognized on a cash-collected basis.

We allocate revenue on arrangements involving multiple elements to each element based on the relative fair value of each element. Our determination of fair value of each element in multiple-element arrangements is based on vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE. We limit our assessment of VSOE for each element to the price charged when the same element is sold separately. We have determined that we have sufficient VSOE to allocate revenue to maintenance and technical support services and professional services. We sell our professional services separately, and have established VSOE on this basis. VSOE for maintenance and technical support service is determined based upon the customer's annual renewal rates for these elements. Accordingly, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met, we recognize revenue from product sales upon delivery using the residual method in accordance with SOP 98-9. We defer fees for maintenance and technical support services and recognize them ratably over the term of the support period.

Our professional services generally are not deemed essential to the functionality of the software. Our products are fully functional upon delivery and implementation and do not require any significant modification or alteration. Customers purchase our professional services to facilitate the adoption of our technology and dedicate personnel to participate in the services being performed, but they may also decide to use their own resources or appoint other professional service organizations to provide these services. Products are billed separately and independently from professional services, which are generally billed on a time-and-materials basis. We generally recognize revenue from professional services as we perform the services.

Deferred revenues generally result from the following: deferred technical support, cash received for professional services not yet rendered and product revenues deferred relating to arrangements where we have

received cash and are required to deliver either unspecified additional products or specified upgrades for which we do not have VSOE.

Inventories

We record inventory write-downs for inventory obsolescence, for inventory in excess of requirements for six to nine months based on changes in forecasted demand, and for products which have reached the end of their life-cycle. We evaluate forecasted demand on a regular basis, evaluating product mix and sales history as well as projections for sales prepared by our sales force.

Impairment of Goodwill, Intangibles and Property and Equipment

We have evaluated the carrying value of certain long-lived assets and acquired intangibles, consisting primarily of goodwill and tangible fixed assets, recorded on our balance sheet at September 30, 2001. Pursuant to accounting rules, the majority of goodwill is recorded based on stock prices at the time acquisition agreements were executed and announced. Goodwill and intangible assets are generally evaluated on an individual acquisition, market, or product basis whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such assets are impaired or the estimated useful lives are no longer appropriate.

Periodically, we review our goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the assets in accordance with SFAS No. 121. In the event such cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the recorded value of the assets, we write down the assets to their estimated fair values based on the expected discounted future cash flows attributable to the assets.

The values we assign to the assets resulting from the impairment analysis are based upon established valuation techniques provided by an independent firm. These valuation techniques are based on subjective estimates of duration of cash flow periods, annual growth rates, discount rates, and terminal values.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our customers are primarily telecommunication service providers and enterprises, as well as distributors who sell to these customers. Throughout 2001, the telecommunication industry has experienced a significant downturn, which has adversely impacted our customers. We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of collectability of our accounts receivable balances. We specifically analyze our accounts receivable and historical bad debts, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends, and changes in our customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. We have, from time to time, experienced material differences between our estimated allowance for doubtful accounts and actual results. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents our best estimate, but changes in circumstances relating to accounts receivable may result in a requirement for additional allowances in the near future.

Restructuring Liabilities

We have estimated and accrued restructuring liabilities based on historical data on prior costs for such activities, together with assumptions on timeframes for such activities and specific actions necessary to complete such transitions. In connection with our 2001 restructuring activities, we recorded restructuring charges of \$51.2 million, of which approximately \$42.2 million is related to facility closure costs. This \$42.2 million charge consists primarily of lease obligations net of expected sublease income. Our expected sublease income is based on information provided by independent real estate brokers. This estimate considers the timing and amount of future subleases of the properties. We currently have 307,000 square feet of excess facilities. Future restructuring costs incurred to exit facilities could vary from historical costs, assumptions on timeframes for subleasing facilities could change or it may be determined that different actions are necessary than those actions assumed to be necessary at the time of our original estimates, any of which could result in actual restructuring costs to exit certain facilities differing from our estimates. Any significant difference between our estimated restructuring liabilities and actual experience, or changes in our estimate, would be

reflected in our reported operating expenses in the period we determine that there is such a difference or that we need to change our estimates.

Results of Operations

The following table presents certain consolidated statement of operations data for the periods indicated as a percentage of total net revenue:

		nths Ended aber 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2001	2000	2001	2000	
		(Restated)		(Restated)	
As a percentage of net revenue:					
Product and software	82%	85%	79%	86%	
Service	18	15	21	14	
Total net revenue	100	100	100	100	
Cost of revenue:	100	100	100	100	
Product and software	202	52	148	43	
Service	18	8	21	8	
233,533					
Total cost of revenue	220	60	169	51	
	(120)		(50)		
Gross profit (loss)	(120)	40	(69)	49	
Operating expenses:	70	21	0.0	26	
Research and development	79	31	80	26	
Sales and marketing	95 42	56	118	54	
General and administrative	42	19	35	15	
Amortization of deferred compensation and other stock compensation	10		11		
charges	10	6	11	6	
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles	49	22	48	9	
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles	529		173	_	
Restructuring and merger related costs	192	5	87	2	
Impairment of property and equipment	217	116	70		
Purchased in-process research and development	_	116	_	44	
Total anaroting aymongon	1,213	255	622	156	
Total operating expenses	1,215		022	130	
Loss from operations	(1,333)	(215)	(691)	(107)	
Other income (expense), net	(70)	18	(16)	19	
outer moome (enpense), nee	(/ 0)		(10)		
Loss before provision for income taxes	(1,403)	(197)	(707)	(88)	
Provision for income taxes	(2)	_	(1)	_	
Net loss	(1,405)%	(197)%	(708)%	(88)%	
	(1,100)/0	(=2.7/0	(,,,	(33)/0	

Net Revenue

Net revenue decreased 31% to \$18.7 million in the three-months ended September 30, 2001 from \$27.2 million in the three months ended September 30, 2000. Net revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2001 decreased by 19% to \$57.4 million from \$70.7 million for the same period in 2000. The decrease in product and software sales of 34% to \$15.4 million in the three months ended September 30, 2001 from \$23.2 million in the three months ended September 30, 2000 and the decrease of 26% to \$45.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$61.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2000 was primarily attributable to the continuing weakness of global economic conditions, including, in particular,

the downturn of the telecommunications market, resulting in a significant decline in capital expenditures by our customers offset in part by revenues from a suite of products acquired from ACT Networks in August 2000. Service revenue from maintenance and support decreased by 17% to \$3.3 million in the three months ended September 30, 2001 from \$4.0 million in the same period in 2000.

The decrease in service revenue is attributable to decreases in the sale of new support contracts resulting from decreased hardware and software sales. Service revenue from maintenance and support increased by 29% to \$12.3 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$9.6 million in the same period in the prior year. This increase in service revenue is attributable to the renewal of support contracts with existing customers in the earlier part of 2001. One customer, Grintek Telecom, accounted for 17% of net revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2001. No other customer individually accounted for 10% or more of net revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2001. In subsequent quarters we expect revenues to substantially decline as a result of several factors including the downturn in the telecommunications market, as well as the activities giving rise to and the impact of the restatement.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased approximately 151% and 168% to \$41.2 million and \$96.8 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$16.4 million and \$36.1 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Product and software costs increased by 166% and 181% to \$37.8 million and \$85.0 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$14.2 million and \$30.2 million, respectively, in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Service costs increased by 58% and 99% to \$3.4 million and \$11.7 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$2.2 million and \$5.9 million in the same periods in 2000, due to the increases in technical support personnel to service an anticipated increased customer base.

Gross margin decreased to a negative 120% and a negative 69% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 compared to a gross margin of 40% and 49% for the corresponding periods in 2000. A significant portion of the drop in gross margin for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 was attributable to a charge of \$24.9 million and \$31.0 million, respectively, for the write-down of excess and obsolete inventories. The excess inventories resulted from our significant reduction in forecasted demand, which we revised in connection with the restatement of our financial statements. For the nine months ended September 30, 2001, the decrease in gross margin also resulted partially from \$18.8 million of product costs associated with products shipped to certain customers in the Asia-Pacific region for which revenue was not recognizable because we now believe that these customers indirectly used Company funds for the purchase of our products and, to a lesser degree, because certain customers purportedly had return rights for such products. We believe that such products, once delivered to the customer, will probably not be recoverable.

Our gross margin has also been affected by significant erosion in the average selling prices of our products due to a number of factors, including competitive pricing pressures and rapid technological changes that we expect to continue in the future. We expect gross margin to be adversely affected by increases in material or labor costs, costs related to maintaining higher inventory balances, changes in product mix, changes in the geographical mix of customers and changes in the channels of distribution. We expect to continue to increase the percentage of sales to distributors, which may result in lower gross margins.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased 75% and 151% to \$14.8 million and \$46.0 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$8.4 million and \$18.3 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Research and development expenses increased as a percentage of revenue to 79% and 80% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from 31% and 26% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, respectively. The increase in research and development expenses both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue from period to period is primarily attributable to increases in the number of research and development employees to an average of 272 for the nine months ended September 30, 2001, from 130 for the nine months ended September 30, 2000, and to the significant decrease

in net revenue. We expect research and development expenses to decrease in absolute dollars going forward as a result of reductions in workforce implemented during the third quarter and expense reductions planned for future periods.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses increased 17% and 77% to \$17.9 million and \$67.5 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, from \$15.3 million and \$38.1 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. The absolute dollar increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to an increase in personnel and related expenses required to implement our sales and marketing strategy and increased public relations and other promotional expenses. Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue increased to 95% and 118% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, from 56% and 54% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. The increase in sales and marketing costs as a percentage of revenue from period to period is attributable to the significant decrease in revenue combined with increased expenses. The increase in expense during the nine months ended September 30, 2001 was also attributable to an increase in personnel and related expenses required to build the infrastructure to support a larger organization based on anticipated higher current period revenue and higher revenue growth. We expect sales and marketing expenses to decrease in absolute dollars going forward as a result of reductions in workforce implemented during the third quarter and expense reductions planned for future periods.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased 56% and 94% to \$8.0 million and \$20.2 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from \$5.1 million and \$10.4 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to 42% and 35% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 from 19% and 15% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. The absolute dollar increase in general and administrative expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 was largely attributable to an increase in personnel and related expenses required to build the infrastructure to support a larger organization based on anticipated higher current period revenue and higher revenue growth. General and administrative employee headcount averaged 132 for the nine months ended September 30, 2001 as compared to 80 for the nine months ended September 30, 2000. The increase in general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue from period to period is attributable to the significant decrease in revenue combined with increased expenses. We expect our general and administrative expenses to decrease going forward in absolute dollars as a result of reductions in workforce implemented during the third quarter and expense reductions planned for future periods.

Amortization of Deferred Compensation

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, amortization of deferred compensation was \$1.9 million and \$6.0 million as compared to \$1.8 million and \$4.1 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Amortization of deferred compensation resulted from the grant of stock options to purchase common stock at prices below the deemed fair value as well as the assumption of stock options through acquisition at prices below the deemed fair value of our common stock. The deferred compensation is being amortized using the graded method over the vesting period of the stock options.

On February 14, 2001, we cancelled approximately 2.9 million outstanding options under an Option Cancellation and Regrant program (the "Program") for employees. Replacement options to purchase approximately 635,000 shares of common stock were granted to employees on February 15, 2001 at the fair market value of \$13.625 per share. These shares vested in full on August 15, 2001 and expired unexercised on November 15, 2001. In addition, we granted replacement options to purchase approximately 916,000 shares of common stock to employees on August 17, 2001 at the fair market value of \$6.30 per share under the Program. The options granted on August 17, 2001 vest ratably each month over a 24-month period and have a 10-year term.

Amortization of Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Exclusive of amortization of developed technology, which is charged to cost of revenue, amortization of goodwill and other intangibles for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 was \$9.1 million and \$27.3 million as compared to \$6.0 million and \$6.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. The goodwill and purchased intangible assets were the result of three purchase business combinations. One purchase was completed in the fourth quarter of 1999 and two in the third quarter of 2000. The value of the purchased intangible assets was determined using independent valuations for both the PEAK and ACT Networks acquisitions in 2000.

Impairment Charges

We have evaluated the carrying value of certain long-lived assets and acquired intangibles, consisting primarily of goodwill, intangibles and fixed assets, recorded on our balance sheet at September 30, 2001, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 121.

Due to circumstances created by the significant downturn in the telecommunications market and the effects of financial irregularities and the restatement, we recorded an impairment charge during the quarter ended September 30, 2001 against the goodwill and intangibles associated with our acquisitions of PEAK Software and ACT Networks, as well as our property and equipment. In accordance with our policy, undiscounted cash flows indicated that the assets were impaired. We calculated the impairment charge by comparing the expected discounted future cash flows to the carrying amount of our long-lived assets. The cash flow periods used were 4.25 years using annual growth rates of 10% to 25%, the discount rate used was 27 percent and the terminal values were estimated based upon a sales market multiple of 1.2. The assumptions supporting the estimated future cash flows, including the discount rate and estimated terminal values reflect management's best estimates. The discount rate was based upon our weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the risks associated with its operation. This resulted in a \$99.1 million write-down of goodwill and other intangibles, as well as a \$40.5 million write-down of property and equipment for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS 141"). SFAS 141 requires the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations and eliminates the pooling-of-interests method for business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS 141 also includes guidance on the initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business combinations completed after June 30, 2001. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141 to have a material effect on its financial conditions or results of operations.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142"). SFAS 142 discontinues amortization of goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives and requires such assets to be reviewed at least annually for impairment. SFAS 142 also includes provisions on the identification of intangible assets, reclassification of certain intangibles from previously reported goodwill, and reassessment of the useful lives of existing intangibles. The Company will apply SFAS 142 beginning in the first quarter of 2002. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 142 to have a material effect on its financial conditions or results of operations.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" ("SFAS 143") which addresses accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this new standard, and as such, it is possible that its adoption could have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 144, "Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" ("SFAS 144") which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of" and provides a single accounting model for impairment of long-lived assets. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this new standard, and as such, it is possible that its adoption could have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

Status of R&D Projects Acquired from ACT Networks

The projected results with respect to the research and development projects acquired from ACT Networks have not been achieved. The remaining \$10.7 million in developed technology acquired from ACT Networks was written-off as part of the impairment of intangible assets in the third quarter of 2001.

The following list provides the information regarding the status of research and development projects at the date of acquisition. There has been no change in expected costs through September 30, 2001 with the exception of the DynaStar project which was discontinued.

	Estimated costs to complete at time of acquisition	Expected Costs at Completion	Expected Date of Completion		
	(in millions)	(in millions)			
NetPerformer	\$3.9	\$3.9	Q3 2001 (complete)		
SX-10	\$0.8	\$0.8	Q3 2001 (complete)		
DynaStar	\$0.8	n/a	Discontinued		

Restructuring Costs

On May 14, 2001, we announced a reduction in workforce of approximately 10% and a streamlining of our business units to achieve cost savings and operating efficiencies in accordance with our previously stated goals. Further, in July 2001, we consolidated two of our three business units and announced an additional reduction of our workforce of approximately 27%. In September 2001, we announced further reductions in workforce, reorganizing our workforce along functional lines and targeted at eliminating approximately 50% of our remaining workforce.

We recorded restructuring charges related to the reductions in workforce and excess facilities and equipment of approximately \$37.0 million in the third quarter of 2001 and \$51.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2001. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, payments of approximately \$6.4 million and \$8.8 million in severance and other costs were made and charged against the accrual. At September 30, 2001, the remaining restructuring accrual was approximately \$42.4 million of which this amount is expected to be paid with cash through 2011. As a result of our significant downsizing in personnel through our restructuring actions we expect to see a reduction of approximately \$8.0 to \$10.0 million per quarter in our operating expense.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other expense, net was \$13.1 million and \$9.1 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 as compared to other income, net of \$5.1 million and \$13.6 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000. Other expense for the first three quarters of 2001 was primarily attributable to charges for impaired investments and loan reserves net of interest income earned. Interest income in the first three quarters of 2001 of \$6.3 million, as compared with \$13.6 million in the first three quarters of 2000, reflects lower cash and investment balances as compared to 2000. Charges for impaired investments were \$6.1 million and \$8.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001. Charges for impaired loans were \$8.2 million for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001. The charges for impaired loans are based on our determination that the collection of certain loans to strategic partners and unauthorized personnel loans are not collectible. We expect interest income to decrease in the remaining quarter of 2001 as cash resources are invested in working capital and used to fund operating losses.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provisions for income taxes of \$405,000 and \$730,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001 and \$2,000 and \$286,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2000, consist of foreign income taxes provided on the profits attributable to the Company's foreign operations. Our effective tax rates differed from the combined federal and state statutory rates predominantly as a result of acquisition charges that were non-deductible for tax purposes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception through June 1999, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of convertible preferred stock, which totaled \$18.9 million in aggregate net proceeds. During 1999, we completed both an initial and a secondary public offering, which resulted in net proceeds of approximately \$302.6 million. In addition, we received net proceeds of \$33.3 million from our acquisitions during the third quarter of 2000.

Net cash used in operating activities was \$139.2 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2001 compared to \$4.0 million in the same period of 2000. The net cash used in operating activities in this period in 2001 was principally the result of the net loss of \$406.1 million, the decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of \$8.4 million, and the decrease in deferred revenue of \$4.5 million. These amounts were partially offset by adjustments for amortization, depreciation, and property and equipment asset impairment charges, including fixed asset goodwill and intangible write-offs, of \$190.8 million, the increase in restructuring and merger related accruals of \$42.1 million, the increase in investment impairments of \$8.9 million, the decrease in accounts receivable of \$12.3 million, the decrease in inventories of \$6.3 million, the decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of \$1.1 million, and the increase in customer advances of \$18.3 million. Amortization expense has increased significantly as a result of the deferred compensation, goodwill and intangibles related to two acquisitions completed during the third quarter of 2000. The decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was primarily due to decreased inventory levels partially offset by increased operating expense levels. The decrease in deferred revenue was the result of a decrease in product revenue. The decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets primarily resulted from a decrease in prepaid promotional costs and insurance costs. The increase in customer advances resulted from our receipt of funds from customers that we now believe may be subject to refund, because of (i) a purported return right, (ii) the customer not accepting possession of certain products or (iii) funds being subject to the payment of a guaranty obligation which we purportedly entered into for a loan to a customer, which we believe was used to purchase our products. The decrease in accounts receivables is the result of decreased sales of new and existing products in the third quarter of 2001. The decrease in inventory is largely due to the write down in the carrying value of (i) materials and finished goods relating to excess and obsolete products and (ii) finished goods pertaining to customers who have financed their purchases through a customer leasing program.

Net cash used in operating activities of \$4.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2000 was principally the result of the net loss of \$62.4 million, an increase in inventories of \$4.8 million, a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of \$4.9 million, a decrease in deferred revenue of \$740,000, and an increase in other assets of \$1.3 million. These amounts were partially offset by adjustments for amortization of deferred compensation, goodwill and intangibles of \$10.9 million, depreciation of \$6.1 million and a charge for purchased inprocess research and development of \$31.5 million, and a decrease in accounts receivable of \$8.2 million, an increase in customer advances of \$7.2 million and an increase of restructuring and merger related accrual of \$6.4 million. Amortization of deferred compensation, goodwill and intangibles increased significantly as a result of the two acquisitions completed during the third quarter of 2000. The increase in accounts receivable was the result of increased sales both through growth and acquisition.

Net cash from investing activities was approximately \$18.0 million in the first nine months of 2001 as compared to \$33.0 million used in investing activities for the same period in 2000. For 2001, \$65.0 million of cash from investing activities resulted from the sale and maturity of investments, net of purchases, as compared to \$47.3 million invested in the purchase of investment securities, net of sales and maturities, during the same period in 2000. Cash used in investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2001 included \$10.0 million in cash which became restricted to secure our line of credit, a loan to a leasing company

of \$5.0 million and purchases of property and equipment and expenditures on leasehold improvements totaling \$32.0 million. These acquisitions included approximately \$10.0 million in software licenses, approximately \$9.0 million in computer equipment and approximately \$8.0 million in furniture and leasehold improvements. Cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2000 included purchases of property and equipment totaling \$19.0 million, which was based on anticipated higher current period revenue and higher revenue growth.

Net cash from financing activities was \$12.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2001 as compared to \$5.4 million for the same period in 2000. The cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2001 included proceeds from a line of credit of \$10.0 million and \$2.0 million in proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and employee stock purchase plans. The proceeds from employee stock plans accounted for \$5.4 million from financing activities during the first nine months of 2000.

At September 30, 2001, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balance, exclusive of restricted cash, was \$86.3 million and will be used to fund our operating leases and our working capital and other capital expenditures, to fund our commitments under our remarketing arrangements with Clarent Finance LLC and for our other commitments and obligations.

As of September 30, 2001, our principal commitments consisted of obligations outstanding under our operating leases of \$72.5 million (of which \$37.2 million has been accrued as part of our restructuring and merger related accruals), advances from customers in the Asia-Pacific region of \$20.9 million, including a guaranty purportedly executed on behalf of the Company with respect to a strategic partner's performance in connection with a \$9.0 million guarantee of a loan, a secured line of credit of \$10.0 million, remarketing obligations with a leasing company of \$2.0 million, and an obligation to a venture capital management fund of \$7.5 million.

The Company's total obligations and commitments are as follows (in millions):

Obligations and Commitments	Less than 1 year	1 – 3 years	4 – 5 years	After 5 years
Operating Leases	\$14.7	\$33.1	\$13.6	\$11.1
Customer Advances	20.9	_	_	_
Lines of Credit	10.0	_	_	_
Remarketing Obligations	0.2	1.3	0.4	0.1
Venture Capital Management Fund	1.9	3.8	1.8	_
Total	\$47.7	\$38.2	\$15.8	\$11.2
		_	_	_

We currently have no material commitments for capital expenditures. In addition, we are subject to various legal actions that could have a materially adverse impact on our financial position for which our directors and officers insurance coverage may not be available. Please refer to the section entitled "Risk Factors that May Impact Future Operating Results" and Item 1 of Part II entitled "Legal Proceedings" for further discussion.

At March 31, 2002, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments were approximately \$34 million, which may not be adequate to meet our operating cash needs through the end of 2002, unless we achieve increased revenues and further reduce our expenses. To reduce our expenditures, we restructured in several areas, including reducing staffing, implementing expense management and curtailing capital spending. For example, since July 2001, our headcount decreased by approximately 82%, from approximately 1,018 employees to approximately 180 employees currently. In addition, we have sustained, and expect to continue to sustain, substantial expenses arising from the restatement of our financial statements and related litigation matters. Until we resolve the claims against us and reduce our commitments, we expect that our expenses will continue to exceed our revenues for the foreseeable future. We plan to take further measures to conserve cash, and to continue to evaluate our strategic alternatives.

For the quarter ended September 30, 2001, we reported revenues of \$18.7 million. In quarters subsequent to the quarter ended September 30, 2001, revenues have declined substantially. Our revenues have been, and we expect will continue to be, materially affected by the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment and by events causing, and the impact of, the restatement of our financial statements. We do not expect demand for our products to recover for the remainder of 2002, and we expect operating losses and negative cash flows from operations to continue for the foreseeable future.

If we are not able to achieve increased revenues and resolve the claims against us, or if we incur unexpected expenditures, then we will need to reduce expenses further and raise additional funds to continue as a going concern. We continue to evaluate our strategic alternatives, including financing transactions or a sale of assets. Due to the unavailability of a public market for our stock as well as our current stock price, additional funding may not be available to us on favorable terms or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders could be significantly diluted. Furthermore, these securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to our common stock. If additional funding is not available when needed, we may be unable to continue as a going concern and achieve our intended business objectives.

RISK FACTORS THAT MAY IMPACT FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS

Factors that have affected our results of operations in the past and are likely to affect our results of operations in the future, include the following:

We expect to require additional funds to continue operations according to our current business plan.

On March 31, 2002, our cash, cash equivalents and short term investments was approximately \$34 million, which may not be adequate to meet our operating cash needs through the end of 2002 based on our current business plan and results of operations. Our primary source of capital is our revenue from product and service sales, which historically has been, and we expect will continue to be, less than our expenses. As described more fully below, our revenues have been, and we expect will continue to be, materially affected by the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment and by the events causing, and the impact of, the restatement of our financial statements. In addition, we have sustained, and expect to continue to sustain, substantial expenses relating to the restatement of our financial statements. As a result, we expect that our expenses will continue to exceed our revenues for the foreseeable future, and we will be required to raise additional funds in order to continue operations according to our current business plan. If we are not able to raise sufficient capital, we may have to curtail our operations, which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations, and we could have to cease operations.

We have an accumulated deficit of approximately \$540.8 million and expect to continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable future.

As of September 30, 2001, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately \$540.8 million. We expect to incur operating losses for the foreseeable future, and these losses may be substantial. Further, we expect to incur negative operating cash flow in the future. Generally, in the long term, we expect to continue to invest in our research and development and sales and marketing organizations, and we have substantial commitments and expect to incur substantial expenses related to the activities giving rise to the restatement of our financial statements. We will need to generate significant revenue growth to achieve profitability and positive operating cash flows. Even if we do achieve profitability and positive operating cash flows, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability or positive operating cash flows on a quarterly or annual basis.

We have experienced operating losses in each year since inception. The following table shows our operating losses for the periods indicated:

Operating Loss	Period	
(in thousands)		
\$(396,292)	Nine months ended September 30, 2001	
(112,402)	Year ended December 31, 2000 (restated)	
(33,163)	Year ended December 31, 1999	
(5,824)	Year ended December 31, 1998	
(2,129)	Year ended December 31, 1997	

We are currently the target of securities litigation and may be the target of further actions, which will be costly and time consuming to defend.

Beginning in July 2001, we and certain of our current and former officers and directors were named as defendants in several class action shareholder complaints filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, collectively captioned *In re Clarent Corp. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation*. These lawsuits purport to bring suit on behalf of all purchasers of our common stock between July 1, 1999 and December 6, 2000. In these actions, the plaintiffs allege that we, certain of our officers and directors and the underwriters of our initial public offering ("IPO") violated the federal securities laws because our IPO registration statement and prospectus purportedly contained untrue statements of material fact or omitted material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The plaintiffs further allege that the prospectus relating to our secondary offering was false and misleading for the same reasons. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same Court against hundreds of other public companies that

conducted IPOs of their common stock since the late 1990s (the "IPO Lawsuits"). On August 8, 2001, the IPO Lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States Judge Shira Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. Judge Scheindlin held an initial case management conference on September 7, 2001, at which time she ordered, among other things, that the time for all defendants to respond to any complaint be postponed until further order of the Court. Thus, we have not been required to answer any of the complaints, and no discovery has been served on us. In accordance with Judge Scheindlin's orders at further status conferences in March and April, the appointed lead plaintiffs' counsel filed amended, consolidated complaints in the IPO Lawsuits on April 19, 2002. However, Judge Scheindlin does not expect any of the defendants to file motions to dismiss the amended, consolidated complaints until at least summer of 2002.

Between September and October 2001, a series of securities law class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us and certain of our current and former executive officers and directors. The plaintiffs in each of these actions allege, among other things, violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, due to the filing with the SEC of allegedly false financial statements concerning our results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000, and the first and second quarters of 2001. The original complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. In November 2001, the court entered an order consolidating these actions into a single action, and in December 2001 appointed a lead class plaintiff. A consolidated complaint has not yet been filed. No discovery has taken place and no trial date has been set.

In October and November 2001, four shareholder derivative actions were filed against us, three in the Delaware Chancery Court and one in California Superior Court. In November 2001, the three Delaware shareholder derivative actions were consolidated into a single action. The plaintiffs in these actions claim to be suing on our behalf and name various of our current and former officers and directors as defendants. The complaints assert several claims, including breach of fiduciary duties, corporate waste, abuse of control, unjust enrichment, usurpation of corporate opportunities and mismanagement, resulting from, among other things, our reporting of allegedly false financial statements concerning our results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000, and the first and second quarters of 2001, our alleged failure to disclose information regarding our operations and the defendants' alleged failure to implement and maintain adequate internal financial controls. The complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. The plaintiff in the California action has commenced discovery against the defendants. However, we are seeking a protective order relating to certain of the discovery requests. On March 23, 2002, our Board of Directors formed a special litigation committee of the Board of Directors to investigate the plaintiffs' allegations. Discovery has not commenced in the Delaware action. No trial date has been set in either action.

On April 12, 2002, a civil complaint for violations of the federal securities laws was filed against us and certain of our officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota entitled *Ahlstrom, et al. v. Clarent Corporation, et al.* The plaintiffs in this action include Irwin L. Jacobs and a number of investors apparently affiliated with him. Plaintiffs allege that we intentionally issued false financial reports for the Company between March 2001 and August 2001 in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and similar provisions of Minnesota law. We currently believe that this litigation will be coordinated or consolidated for most pretrial purposes with the other securities law class action matters currently pending against us. This matter is at an early stage. No response to the complaint has yet been filed, and no discovery has taken place.

On April 26, 2002, certain former shareholders of PEAK Software Solutions, Inc. ("PEAK"), some of whom are employees of ours, including one of our key employees, filed a lawsuit against us in Colorado state court. The complaint alleges claims for common law fraud, securities fraud and breach of contract relating to our acquisition of PEAK in July 2000. The complaint does not specify the damages sought. The complaint has not yet been served and no response has been filed.

The ultimate outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined and will require significant commitment of our financial and management resources and time, which may seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you that any of the allegations discussed above can be resolved without costly and protracted litigation, and the outcome may have a materially adverse

impact upon our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. No estimate can be made at this time of the possible loss or possible range of loss associated with the resolution of these actions.

In addition, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. The uncertainty of the currently pending investigation and litigation could lead to more volatility in our stock price, if and when trading resumes. We may in the future be the target of securities class action claims similar to those described above.

We have been and are continuing to cooperate with regulatory agencies in connection with their investigations of the actions relating to the restatement of our financial statements, and we expect the investigations to be time-consuming and costly and to divert management's time and attention, and the investigations could result in penalties against us.

On September 4, 2001, we contacted the Securities Exchange Commission (the SEC) and the Nasdaq Marketwatch to inform them of possible accounting and financial irregularities. Nasdaq commenced and now has completed an investigation relating to these matters. The Nasdaq investigation resulted in the delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq Stock Market effective January 30, 2002.

We also have been notified that the SEC has commenced an investigation regarding the events giving rise to the restatement. Although we are cooperating fully with the SEC in its investigation, we cannot anticipate actions that may be taken by the SEC or any other regulatory agencies should they begin investigations. The SEC has the ability to pursue civil or criminal penalties against us and our current and former officers and directors.

Our investigation and our cooperation with the Nasdaq and SEC investigations have been costly and time-consuming. Our response to the SEC's continuing investigation will be costly and time-consuming and will divert management's time and attention from the operation of our business. The SEC investigation could result in civil or criminal penalties against us, which could seriously affect our capital resources. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operation and cash flow.

We are currently engaged in litigation and other disputes with former distributors and suppliers, which will be costly and time consuming to defend.

On December 31, 2001, D-Link Corporation ("D-Link"), a distributor/supplier to us, filed two complaints in California Superior Court in which D-Link asserted various breach of contract claims against us. D-Link seeks damages of approximately \$19.0 million plus interest with respect to these alleged breaches of contracts. On March 5, 2002 the court consolidated the two actions. We have filed a cross-complaint against D-Link alleging breach of contract and breach of warranty. We have answered D-Link's complaints, denying all material allegations and asserting various affirmative defenses. Discovery has commenced with respect to both of the D-Link complaints, but a trial date has not been set.

In December 2001, we received letters from Bright Oceans Corporation (HK) Limited ("Bright Oceans") in which Bright Oceans asserted possible claims against us. Bright Oceans claimed that it purchased products from us on purchase orders subject to a right of return that it has now exercised, and that we are obligated to return Bright Oceans' payment. Bright Oceans seeks recovery of \$4.6 million plus interest and expenses.

The ultimate outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined and will require significant commitment of our financial and management resources and time, which may seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you that any of the allegations discussed above can be resolved without costly and protracted litigation, and the outcome may have a materially adverse impact upon our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. No estimate can be made at this time of the possible loss or possible range of loss associated with the resolution of these actions.

In addition, litigation has often been brought against a company following significant restructurings of operations that affect its relationships with distributors and suppliers. We may in the future be the target of other claims similar to those described above.

We may not be able to pay our operating lease commitments of approximately \$72.5 million as of September 30, 2001.

At September 30, 2001, we had operating lease commitments of approximately \$72.5 million that are due and payable through 2011. These leases relate to approximately 396,000 square feet of facility space, of which approximately 307,000 square feet is excess based on our current operating levels. The excess space is principally in California.

We are currently attempting to sublet the excess space or renegotiate our lease terms. The market for office space in California remains depressed, however, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to find a sublessee for our excess office space. In addition, we entered into some of the leases at times when the demand for office space was considerably higher than now, and the rental rates under these leases are likely to be at prices that are higher than the price for which we will be able to sublease the space. As a result, even if we can identify a sublessee for our excess office space, we are likely to remain committed to pay some portion of the rent. In addition, the lessors of these properties are under no obligation to renegotiate our leases. If we are unable to sublet the premises subject to these leases, or are required to sublease the premises at a loss, and if we are not successful in renegotiating the lease terms, we will need to raise additional funds to cover these commitments which, as described above, may not be possible on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all.

Our strategy to continue operating according to our current business plan relies heavily on achieving revenue targets, reducing expenses and effectively complying with our corrective measures.

Our cash flows have been, and we expect will continue to be, materially impacted by the downturn in demand for telecommunications equipment and by the events causing, and the impact of, the restatement of our financial statements, which has decreased demand for our products. Although we implemented remedial measures to address the activities discovered in our investigation, our ability to achieve our business plan is dependent on our effective continued execution of these measures as we operate our business. Additionally, our ability to meet our revenue targets depends in large part on the continuing support of our customers and distributors, who may react adversely to the restatement of our financial statements. The restatement of our financial statements and the securities litigation filed against us has resulted in substantial negative publicity about us, which may cause some of our potential customers to defer purchases of our products. We may not be able to retain customers and distributors if they lose confidence in us, and our distributors may reexamine their willingness to do business with us. Some of our customers and distributors, particularly large organizations, may be reluctant to chose us or continue to use us as a vendor due to concerns over our weakened financial condition.

In addition, we have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, substantial expenses relating to the restatement of our financial statements, regulatory agency investigations and litigation matters. We also have substantial operating lease and other commitments, which will require us to make substantial payments if we cannot renegotiate or otherwise reduce these commitments. Additionally, achieving our revenue and expense targets depends on factors that are beyond our control, such as the condition of the global economy, the status of capital expenditures in our customers' markets and the outcome of the litigation against us. As a result, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to achieve the revenue and expense targets. If we do not achieve these targets, we will either have to raise additional financing or curtail or cease our operations.

If we do need to raise additional capital, there is no guarantee that capital will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we cannot secure additional funding on acceptable terms, we may be required to curtail or cease operations.

We have limited access to the capital markets to raise additional financing should we need it. Investors recently have been reluctant to invest in relatively unproven high-technology companies such as our, and raising capital in the current market conditions is difficult. In addition, our ability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms will be adversely affected by uncertainties relating to the outcome of the pending litigation involving us and the regulatory reviews to which we are subject as well as the effect of the restatement of our financial statements and the delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq Stock Market. As a result, there is no guarantee that financing will be available on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If

we are able to consummate a financing arrangement, there is no guarantee that the amount raised will be sufficient to meet our future needs.

If we cannot raise needed funds on acceptable terms, we will have to curtail or cease operations. If we are required to curtail operations, we may not be able to develop or enhance our products, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements. We also may be required to reduce our planned product offerings and development and marketing efforts. Any of these effects could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations and could adversely affect our continued viability.

If we are able to raise additional funds, we may do so from a combination of sources, potentially including debt and equity issuance, and the sale of assets. If we were to raise additional funds through the issuance of debt securities, these securities could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of common stock holders, and the terms of such debt securities could impose restrictions on our operations. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities would reduce the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders. New investors may demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our common stock.

Our indemnification obligations to our directors and officers in connection with various securities and other litigation commenced against us, may deplete our cash resources and affect our ability to operate our business successfully.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides for the indemnification of our directors with certain exceptions. In addition, our bylaws provide for the indemnification of our directors and executive officers as authorized by law and in accordance with any written indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers. Our bylaws also permit indemnification of officers, employees and other agents in appropriate situations. We have entered into indemnity agreements with each of our directors and current and former executive officers, which provide that we will indemnify our directors and executive officers to the fullest extent allowed by law. The indemnity agreements also provide additional indemnification to our directors and executive officers in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, with certain exceptions.

Various securities and other litigation claims have been filed against several of our current and former directors and officers. In addition, several of our directors and officers may incur costs arising from potential investigation by regulatory agencies, including Nasdaq and the SEC. The ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be presently determined and we cannot estimate the possible extent of our indemnification obligations or the availability of coverage through our insurance. We have purchased directors' and officers' liability insurance to reimburse us for the costs incurred in connection with our indemnification obligations described above. For the period from July 1999 through June 30, 2001, the period in which the claims against us and certain of our directors and executive officers were asserted, we had in place directors' and officers' liability insurance policies providing an aggregate of \$35.0 million in coverage (the "D&O Policies"). The D&O Policies provide coverage, subject to various exclusions, including claims relating to the restatement of our financial statements. The D&O Policies provide that 100% of the costs incurred in defending claims asserted jointly against us and our directors and executive officers are allocated to the individuals' defense and, thus, are covered by the policy.

Certain of the insurers of the D&O Policies have reserved their rights to deny coverage, in whole or in part, as a result of (i) the activities of certain covered executives which may be imputed to us, which may result in a significant limitation of coverage or (ii) the errors or infirmities in the application process, which may enable the insurers to rescind the policy. If our insurance coverage is nonexistent or insufficient to indemnify our directors and officers to the extent provided in our bylaws and the indemnity agreements, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected because we have not set aside any financial reserves to pay our indemnity obligations that are denied or not covered by our D&O Policies.

Our failure to manage our recent strategic restructuring effectively could negatively affect our results of operations.

When we began commercial shipment of our products in March 1997, we initially experienced a period of rapid growth and expansion that significantly strained all of our resources. However, from December 31, 2000 to the filing of this report, the total number of our employees decreased from approximately 848 to approximately 180 currently due to organizational restructuring and related reductions in workforce arising from reduced revenue expectations. Despite these recent reductions in workforce, we expect our implementation of organizational restructuring will place strain on our management, and operational and financial resources. The success of our organizational restructuring depends on the ability of management to utilize reduced resources effectively. We may not be able to implement our strategic focus on the local access or our "last mile" market in an efficient and timely manner. Delays in streamlining our operations during our transition to the local access market focus may impair our ability to accurately forecast sales demand, manage our product inventory, and record and provide support services to our customers. Our inability to manage our organizational restructuring effectively could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Finally, we may be the target of employment litigation in connection with our restructuring and reductions in workforce.

If the strategic restructuring of our organization is not effective, our financial results and business could suffer.

In response to changes in industry and market conditions we are restructuring, and may continue to restructure, our activities to more strategically realign our resources and improve our operational efficiency. Our restructuring plan is based on certain assumptions regarding the cost structure of our business and the nature and severity of the current industry adjustment which may not prove to be accurate. Our restructuring plan has involved the implementation of a number of initiatives to streamline our business and improve operational efficiency. We cannot assure you that our restructuring plan will result in sufficient cost reduction or greater operational efficiency in light of current or future capital markets and telecommunications industry conditions. We also cannot assure you that we will not be required to refine, expand or extend our restructuring plan, or that we will improve our operational efficiency as a result of our restructuring plan. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully utilize our reduced workforce resources effectively or that our management will be effective during our restructuring. Current and additional restructuring actions may result in further cash and/or non-cash charges, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Finally, we may be the target of employment litigation in connection with our restructuring and reductions in workforce.

If we are unable to attract or retain key personnel and qualified employees as a result of uncertainty about our future and the possible loss of confidence of our employees, we may not be able to operate our business successfully.

Our success depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain key personnel and qualified employees, particularly senior management, highly skilled engineers, sales personnel, marketing personnel and support personnel, despite our recent workforce reductions. The competition for such key personnel and qualified employees is intense. Uncertainty about our future and the possible loss of confidence of our employees in connection with the restatement of our historical revenue, multiple lawsuits filed against us, regulatory review and recent negative publicity could harm our ability to attract and retain key personnel and qualified employees, which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, we have effected several reductions in workforce designed to align our workforce with our anticipated level of business. These reductions in workforce were targeted at eliminating more than 80% of the workforce we had in early 2001 by early 2002 and terminating several senior executives.

Our success also depends upon our ability to attract and retain key executive officers and senior management. We have recently experienced significant management changes and several executives either resigned or were terminated in connection with the financial irregularities investigation and as a result of reductions in workforce that have been accompanied by the restructuring of our operations. These management changes have resulted in transitional difficulties, and a significant strain on our management systems,

infrastructure, resources, operational capabilities and planning and management processes, which will make it difficult for us to implement our business strategy and may adversely impact our operating results, financial condition and our ability to increase revenues or control costs. In addition, if we are unable to retain our key executive officers, recruit new key officers or train and manage our workforce, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Competition for technical personnel in the high-technology industry is intense, despite current economic conditions. Our future success depends, in large part, on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel, the inability to attract or retain qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring required personnel, particularly engineers, sales personnel and marketing personnel, may seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may find it more difficult to attract or retain qualified personnel as a result of our recent reduction in workforce and restructuring. In addition, if management is unable to utilize reduced resources effectively, our ability to compete effectively may be impaired. We will need to expand our sales operations and marketing operations in order to increase market awareness of our products and generate increased revenue. New sales personnel and marketing personnel will require training and take time to achieve full productivity. In addition, the design and installation of IP telephony solutions can be complex. Accordingly, we need highly trained professional services and customer support personnel. We will need to continue to increase the number of service and support staff to support new customers and the expanding needs of existing customers. Competition for personnel is intense, especially in the San Francisco Bay Area where we maintain our headquarters. We cannot be certain that we will successfully attract and retain additional qualified personnel. In addition, our key person life insurance policy, covering some of our key employees, may be insufficient to cover the costs associated with the loss of one of these employees.

We may not have adequate protection for our intellectual property, which may make it easier for others to sell competing products.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure through confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property rights. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. In addition, we cannot be sure that certain of our former employees have taken appropriate steps to protect our intellectual property consistent with our policies. Monitoring unauthorized use of our products is difficult, and we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent misappropriation of our technology. The laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as the laws of the United States, and many United States companies have encountered substantial infringement problems in these countries, some of which are countries in which we have sold and continue to sell products. If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, it would be easier for our competitors to sell competing products.

Our products may infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may result in lawsuits and prohibit us from selling our products.

We believe there is a risk that third parties have filed, or will file applications for, or have received or will receive, patents or obtain additional intellectual property rights relating to materials or processes that we use or propose to use. As a result, from time to time, third parties may assert exclusive patent, copyright, trademark and other intellectual property rights to technologies that are important to us. In addition, third parties may assert claims or initiate litigation against us or our manufacturers, suppliers or customers with respect to existing or future products, copyrights, trademarks or other proprietary rights. Any claims against us or customers that we indemnify against intellectual property claims, with or without merit, may be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel or require us to develop non-infringing technology. If a claim is successful, we may be required to obtain a license or royalty agreement under the intellectual property rights of those parties claiming the infringement. If we are unable to obtain the license or acceptable terms, we may be unable to market our products. Limitations on our ability to market our products and delays and costs associated with monetary damages and redesigns in compliance with an adverse judgment or settlement could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Sales to customers based outside the United States have historically accounted for a significant portion of our revenue, which exposes us to risks inherent in international operations.

International sales represented approximately 70% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2001, 65% of total revenue in 2000 and 54% of total revenue in 1999. Our international operations are subject to a variety of risks associated with conducting business internationally any of which could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

These risks include:

- greater difficulty in accounts receivable collections;
- import or export licensing and product certification requirements;
- tariffs, duties, price controls or other restrictions on foreign currencies or trade barriers imposed by foreign countries;
- potential adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on repatriation of earnings;
- fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
- seasonal reductions in business activity in some parts of the world;
- unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;
- burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, particularly with respect to intellectual property and license requirements;
- difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;
- political instability;
- the impact of recessions in economies outside of the United States; and
- limited ability to enforce agreements, intellectual property and other rights in some foreign countries.

Our vendors and suppliers may react adversely to the restatement of our historical financial statements and our weakened financial condition, which would make our continuing viability uncertain.

Our future success depends in large part on the support of our vendors and suppliers, who may react adversely to the restatement of our historical financial statements. The restatement of our historical financial statements and the securities litigation filed against us has resulted in substantial negative publicity about us, which has caused some of our potential customers to defer purchases of our products. Our vendors and suppliers may reexamine their willingness to do business with us if they lose confidence in us and our ability to fulfill our commitments.

The success of our business depends in part on our ability to enter into contracts with companies and for the continuing provisions of product and services. Some of these companies, particularly large organizations, may be reluctant to chose us or continue to use us as a vendor due to concerns over our weakened financial condition.

Our common stock is currently not eligible for trading on any public market, which has adversely affected the market liquidity and volume of trading of our common stock and has made it more difficult for us to raise additional capital.

Our common stock was delisted from the Nasdaq Stock Market, effective January 30, 2002, based on Nasdaq's determination that we had violated certain of the Nasdaq continued listing requirements as a result of (i) our failure to file our quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001, (ii) the failure of our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 to contain audited financial statements because our auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, informed us that our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2000 should no longer be relied upon as a result of the matters which gave rise to the need for a special investigation and for which the investigation and resulting restated financial statements

were not complete, rendering our financial statements unaudited at that time, and (iii) public interest concerns related to the protection of investors. Our common stock is not currently eligible for trading on any public market, although private transactions involving our stock are now quoted on the OTC Market Pink Sheets Electronic Quotation Service (the "Pink Sheets") under the symbol "CLRN." As a result, an investor will likely find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations for the price of, our common stock. In addition, until we are in compliance with the public filing requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the quoting of our common stock on the Pink Sheets is not eligible to be sponsored by a market maker, which may make it more difficult for an investor to acquire or dispose of our common stock in the secondary market. In addition, if when or our common stock is eligible to be sponsored by a market maker, our common stock will be subject to so-called "penny stock" rules, which impose additional sales practice and market-making requirements on broker-dealers who sell and/or make a market in such securities. Consequently, broker-dealers may be less willing or able to sell and/or make a market in our common stock and purchasers of our common stock may have more difficulty selling such common stock on the Pink Sheets. In all cases, the market liquidity and volume of trading of our common stock has declined and has made it more difficult for us to raise additional capital.

We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate our prospects.

We are an early-stage company in the emerging IP telephony market. Because of our limited operating history, we have limited insight into trends that may emerge in our market and affect our business. The revenue and income potential of the IP telephony market, and our business in particular, are unproven. As a result of our limited operating history, we have limited financial data that you can use to evaluate our business. You must consider our prospects in light of the risks, expenses and challenges we might encounter because we are at an early stage of development in a new and rapidly evolving market. Unless we generate significant revenue growth, our increasing expenses will significantly harm our financial position.

Our markets are highly competitive, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete effectively.

We compete in a new, rapidly evolving and highly competitive and fragmented market. We expect competition to intensify in the future. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete effectively. We believe that the main competitive factors in our market are product quality, features, cost and customer relationships. Our current principal competitors include Cisco Systems, Inc., Lucent Technologies Inc., Nortel Networks Corporation, Sonus Networks, Nuera Communications Inc. and Vocal Tec Communications. Many of our large competitors have significantly larger market shares (as measured by ports shipped) and stronger relationships with service providers than we do. In addition, they may be able to compete more effectively because they will be able to add IP telephony features to their existing equipment or bundle these features as part of a broader solution. We also expect that other companies may enter our market with better products and technologies.

We expect our competitors to continue to improve the performance of their current products and introduce new products or new technologies. To be competitive, we must continue to invest significant resources in research and development, sales, marketing and customer support. We cannot be sure that we will have sufficient resources to make these investments or that we will be able to make the technological advances necessary to be competitive. Increased competition is likely to result in price reductions, reduced gross margin and loss of market share. Our failure to compete successfully against current or future competitors could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A loss of one or more of our key customers could cause a significant decrease in our net revenue.

We have historically derived the majority of our revenue from a small number of customers. One customer, Grintek Telecom individually accounted for 26% of our revenue for the quarter ended September 30, 2001 and 17% for the nine months ended September 30, 2001. In the fiscal year 2000, no one customer individually accounted for 10% or more of our net revenues. In 1999, entities affiliated with AT&T Corporation accounted for 15% of net revenue and entities affiliated with Ji Tong Communications accounted for 10% of net revenue. None of our customers is obligated to purchase additional products or services. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that present or future customers will not terminate their purchasing

arrangements with us or significantly reduce or delay their orders. Any termination, change, reduction or delay in orders could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future ability to generate sales depends on the interoperability of our products with those of other vendors.

While our products currently connect to the traditional telephone system using standard interfaces, an increasing number of our customers have requested that our products interoperate with competing IP telephony products from other vendors. The interoperability standards for IP telephony equipment are evolving. We have developed only initial interoperable solutions, but if we are unable to provide or maintain our customers' interoperable solutions with other vendors' products, they may seek vendors who provide greater product interoperability. This could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our inability to introduce new products and product enhancements could prevent us from increasing revenue.

We expect that the IP telephony market will be characterized by rapid technological change. We also expect that the increased use of IP telephony will require us to rapidly evolve and adapt our products to remain competitive. The successful operation of our business depends on our ability to develop and introduce new products and product enhancements that respond to technological changes or evolving industry standards on a timely and cost-effective basis. We cannot be certain that we will successfully develop and market these types of products and product enhancements. Our failure to produce technologically competitive products in a cost-effective manner and on a timely basis will seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to expand our distribution and direct sales channels, which would harm our ability to generate revenue.

We are now in the process of converting our overseas sales organization into distributorships and have significantly downsized our direct sales force and operating activities in a number of countries. We believe that our future success is dependent upon our ability to establish and manage successful relationships with a variety of domestic and international distribution partners and key personnel with our direct sales force. We have agreements with more than 25 distribution partners that accounted for approximately 31% and 24% of net revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2001, 31% of revenue in the fiscal year 2000 and 16% of revenue in 1999. These distribution agreements typically may be terminated without cause upon 90 days notice. We cannot be certain that we will be able to reach agreement with additional distribution partners on a timely basis or at all, or that these distributions partners will devote adequate resources to marketing, selling and supporting our products. To generate greater revenue from distributors, we must successfully manage our distributor relationships, which we cannot guarantee that we will be able to do in the future. Our inability to generate revenue from distribution partners may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our sales cycle is typically long and unpredictable, causing us to incur expenditures prior to the receipt of orders.

We incur research and development, and sales and marketing, including customer support, expenditures prior to receiving orders for our products from any given customer. The length of the sales cycle with a particular customer is influenced by a number of factors, including:

- a customer's experience with sophisticated telecommunications equipment, such as our product;
- the particular telecommunications market that the customer serves; and
- the cost of purchasing our product, including the cost of converting from installed equipment, which may be significant.

Before we receive orders, our customers typically test and evaluate our products for a period of many months.

We cannot be certain that the sales cycle for our products will not lengthen in the future. In addition, the emerging and evolving nature of the IP telephony market may cause prospective customers to delay purchase decisions as they evaluate new technologies, test our products and develop and implement new systems. As the average order size for our products grows, the process for approving purchases is likely to become more complex, leading to potential delays in receipt of these orders. As a result, our long and unpredictable sales cycle contributes to the uncertainty of our future operating results.

Delays in customer orders could have a negative impact on our results of operations for any given quarter.

We have historically received a significant portion of our product orders near the end of a quarter. Accordingly, a delay in an anticipated receipt or delivery of a given order past the end of a particular quarter may negatively impact our results of operations for that quarter. These delays may become more likely given that we expect that the average size of our customer orders may increase. As a result, a delay in the recognition of revenue, even from just one customer, may have a significant negative impact on our results of operations for a given period. Additionally, the volatility in capital markets and in the U.S. economy may cause some customers to postpone or terminate significant capital expenditures, such as expenditures on our products. Any delay in sales of our products could result in a significant decrease in cash flow, which, in turn, could severely affect our ability to make payments as they come due and could cause our operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

Our dependence on third party manufacturers may result in product delivery delays.

We license technology that is incorporated into our products from third party manufacturers, including AudioCodes, Ltd. and Natural Microsystems. If these vendors fail to supply us with their components on a timely basis, we could experience significant delays in shipping our products. Although we believe there are other sources for this licensed technology, any significant interruption in the supply or support of any licensed technology could seriously harm our sales, unless and until we can replace the functionality provided by this licensed technology. Also, because our products incorporate software developed and maintained by third parties, we depend on these third parties to deliver reliable products, support these products, enhance their current products, develop new products on a timely and cost-effective basis, and respond to emerging industry standards and other technological changes. The failure of these third parties to meet these criteria could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our strategy to outsource assembly and test functions in the future could delay our ability to deliver our products on a timely basis.

We assemble and test our products at our facilities in Redwood City, California and in Manassas, Virginia. We have outsourced some of our assembly and test functions.

This outsourcing strategy involves risks, including the potential absence of adequate capacity and reduced control over delivery schedules, manufacturing yields, quality and costs. In the event that any significant subcontractor was unable or unwilling to continue to manufacture and/or test our products in the required volumes, we would have to identify and qualify acceptable replacements. This process could be lengthy, and we cannot be sure that additional sources would be available to us on a timely basis. Any delay or increase in costs in the assembly and testing of products by third-party subcontractors could seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our facilities are vulnerable to damage from earthquakes and other natural disasters.

Some of our assembly facilities are located on or near known earthquake fault zones and all are vulnerable to damage from fire, floods, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures and similar events. If such a disaster occurs while we still assemble our products inhouse, our ability to assemble, test and ship our products would be seriously, if not completely, impaired, which would seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot be sure that the insurance we maintain against fires,

floods, earthquakes and general business interruptions will be adequate to cover our losses in any particular case.

Fluctuations in the values of foreign currencies could have a negative impact on our profitability.

Due to our international operations, we incur expenses in a number of currencies. We do not currently engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risks of exchange rate fluctuations. Therefore, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies could have a negative impact on the profitability of our global operations, which would seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. All of our sales, including international sales, are currently denominated in U.S. dollars. However, we do not expect that future international sales will continue to be denominated in U.S. dollars. Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may make our products more expensive than local product offerings.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of Clarent.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that a stockholder may consider favorable. These provisions include:

- authorizing the board of directors to issue preferred stock;
- prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
- limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;
- prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;
- establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election of the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings; and
- establishing a classified board of directors requiring that members of the board of directors be elected in different years.

In addition, in February 2001, we adopted a shareholder rights plan which may discourage, delay or prevent a merger that a stockholder may consider favorable. We are also subject to certain provisions of Delaware law that could delay, deter or prevent us from entering into an acquisition, including Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder unless specific conditions are met.

We do not intend to pay dividends.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings for funding growth. Therefore, we do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Financial Market Risk

Our financial market risk includes risks associated with international operations and related foreign currencies. We anticipate that international sales will continue to account for a significant portion of our consolidated revenue. Our international sales are largely denominated in U.S. dollars and therefore are not subject to material foreign currency exchange risk. Expenses of our international operations are denominated in each country's local currency and therefore are subject to foreign currency exchange risk; however, through September 30, 2001 we have not experienced any significant negative impact on our operations as a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We do not currently engage in any hedging activities or use derivative financial instruments.

We have an investment portfolio of fixed income securities, including those classified as cash equivalents, of approximately \$73 million at September 30, 2001. These securities are subject to interest rate fluctuations and will decrease in market value if interest rates decrease. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. We invest primarily in high-quality, short-term debt instruments such as U.S. government securities and instruments issued by high quality financial institutions and companies, including money market instruments and debt issued by corporations. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in less than a \$200,000 decrease (less than 0.2%) in the fair market value of our available-for-sale securities.

We have investments in equity and debt securities of privately held companies for the promotion of business and strategic objectives of \$6.9 million at September 30, 2001. These investments are generally in companies in the telecommunications industry. We also have invested in a venture capital management fund. These investments are included in long-term investments and are accounted for using the cost method. For investments in which no public market exists, our policy is to regularly review the operating performance, recent financing transactions and cash flow forecasts for such companies in assessing the net realizable values of the securities of these companies. Impairment losses on equity investments are recorded when events and circumstances indicate that such assets are impaired and the decline in value is other than temporary. During the nine months ended September 30, 2001 we recorded impairment losses of \$8.9 million on investments and realized gains of \$1.4 million.

PART II.

OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in July 2001, the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants in several class action shareholder complaints filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, collectively captioned In re Clarent Corp. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation. These lawsuits purport to bring suit on behalf of all purchasers of the Company's common stock between July 1, 1999 and December 6, 2000. In these actions, the plaintiffs allege that the Company, certain of its officers and directors and the underwriters of its initial public offering ("IPO") violated the federal securities laws because the Company's IPO registration statement and prospectus purportedly contained untrue statements of material fact or omitted material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The plaintiffs further allege that the prospectus relating to the Company's secondary offering was false and misleading for the same reasons. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same Court against hundreds of other public companies that conducted IPOs of their common stock since the late 1990s (the "IPO Lawsuits"). On August 8, 2001, the IPO Lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial purposes before United States Judge Shira Scheindlin of the Southern District of New York. Judge Scheindlin held an initial case management conference on September 7, 2001, at which time she ordered, among other things, that the time for all defendants to respond to any complaint be postponed until further order of the Court. Thus, the Company has not been required to answer any of the complaints, and no discovery has been served on the Company. In accordance with Judge Scheindlin's orders at further status conferences in March and April, the appointed lead plaintiffs' counsel filed amended, consolidated complaints in the IPO Lawsuits on April 19, 2002. However, Judge Scheindlin does not expect any of the defendants to file motions to dismiss the amended, consolidated complaints until at least summer of 2002.

In September and October 2001, a series of securities law class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against the Company and certain of its current and former executive officers and directors. The plaintiffs in each of these actions allege, among other things, violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, due to the filing with the SEC of allegedly false financial statements concerning the Company's results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000, and the first and second quarters of 2001. The original complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. In November 2001, the court entered an order consolidating these actions into a single action, and in December 2001 appointed a lead class plaintiff. A consolidated complaint has not yet been filed. No discovery has taken place and no trial date has been set.

In October and November 2001, four shareholder derivative actions were filed against the Company, three in the Delaware Chancery Court and one in California Superior Court. In November 2001, the three Delaware shareholder derivative actions were consolidated into a single action. The plaintiffs in these actions claim to be suing on the Company's behalf and name various of the Company's current and former officers and directors as defendants. The complaints assert several claims, including breach of fiduciary duties, corporate waste, abuse of control, unjust enrichment, usurpation of corporate opportunities and mismanagement, resulting from, among other things, the Company's reporting of allegedly false financial statements concerning the Company's results of operations for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2000 and the first and second quarters of 2001, the Company's alleged failure to disclose information regarding the Company's operations and the defendants' alleged failure to implement and maintain adequate internal financial controls. The complaints seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. The plaintiff in the California action has commenced discovery against the defendants. However, the Company is seeking a protective order relating to certain of the discovery requests. Discovery has not commenced in the Delaware action. On March 23, 2002, the Company's Board of Directors formed a special litigation committee of the Board of Directors to investigate the plaintiffs' allegations. No trial date has been set in either action.

On December 31, 2001, D-Link Corporation ("D-Link"), a distributor and supplier to the Company, filed two complaints in California Superior Court in which D-Link asserted various breach of contract claims against the Company. D-Link seeks damages of approximately \$19.0 million plus interest with respect to these alleged breaches of contracts. On March 5, 2002 the court consolidated the two actions. The Company has filed a cross-complaint against D-Link alleging breach of contract and breach of warranty. The Company has answered D-Link's complaints, denying all material allegations and asserting various affirmative defenses. Discovery has commenced with respect to both of the D-Link complaints, but a trial date has not been set.

In December 2001, the Company received letters from Bright Oceans Corporation (HK) Limited ("Bright Oceans") in which Bright Oceans asserted possible claims against the Company. Bright Oceans claimed that it purchased products from the Company on purchase orders subject to a right of return. Bright Oceans seeks recovery of \$4.6 million plus interest and expenses based on its purported right of return.

On April 12, 2002, a civil complaint for violations of the federal securities laws was filed against the Company and certain of its officers and directors in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota entitled *Ahlstrom, et al. v. Clarent Corporation, et al.* The plaintiffs in this action include Irwin L. Jacobs and a number of investors apparently affiliated with him. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants intentionally issued false financial reports for the Company between March 2001 and August 2001 in violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and similar provisions of Minnesota law. The Company currently believes that this litigation will be coordinated or consolidated for most pre-trial purposes with the other securities law class action matters currently pending against the Company. This matter is at an early stage. No response to the complaint has yet been filed, and no discovery has taken place.

On April 26, 2002, certain former shareholders of PEAK Software Solutions, Inc. ("PEAK"), some of whom are current employees of the Company, including a key employee of the Company, filed a lawsuit against the Company in Colorado state court. The complaint alleges claims for common law fraud, securities fraud and breach of contract relating to the Company's acquisition of PEAK in July 2000. The complaint does not specify the damages sought. The complaint has not yet been served and no response has been filed.

The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against these allegations. However, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

- (a) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Form 10-Q:
 - 10.32 Separation Agreement, dated July 30, 2001, by and between the registrant and Peter Bohacek.
 - 10.33 Offer Letter, dated August 10, 2001, by and between the registrant and David Emerson.
- (b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On September 4, 2001, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K announcing that its previously reported revenues for the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2001 may have been materially overstated and that the Company has formed a special committee to investigate a number of transactions that place in question the Company's historical financial results.

CLARENT CORPORATION

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CLARENT CORPORATION

By: /s/ JOHN J. O'SHEA

John J. O'Shea

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: May 8, 2002

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

- 10.32 Separation Agreement, dated July 30, 2001, by and between the registrant and Peter Bohacek.
- 10.33 Offer Letter, dated August 10, 2001, by and between the registrant and David Emerson.

EXHIBIT 10.32

July 30, 2001

Mr. Peter Bohacek c/o Clarent Corporation 700 Chesapeake Drive Redwood City, CA 94063

Dear Peter:

I am pleased that we have been able to work out a mutually beneficial transition. This letter sets forth the substance of the separation and consulting agreement (the "Agreement") to which you and Clarent Corporation (the "Company") have agreed.

- 1. SEPARATION DATE. Your employment with the Company will terminate effective July 31, 2001 (the "Separation Date").
- 2. ACCRUED SALARY AND VACATION. On the Separation Date, the Company will pay you all accrued and unpaid salary, and all accrued and unused vacation, earned through the Separation Date, less standard payroll deductions and withholdings. You are entitled to these payments regardless of whether you sign this Agreement.
- 3. COMMISSIONS. As part of this Agreement, the Company will pay you "zero" dollars (\$0.00), less standard payroll deductions and withholdings, in satisfaction of any and all commissions due to you. You will not be entitled to receive any other commissions after the Separation Date.
- 4. BONUS. You will not be eligible to receive any bonus for the year 2001 or thereafter.
- 5. SEVERANCE PAYMENT. In exchange for the release of claims and Supplemental Release described in paragraphs 15 and 17 below, the Company will make severance payments to you in an amount equal to the continuation of your base salary as of the Separation Date for twelve (12) months following the Separation Date, less standard payroll deductions and withholdings. These payments will be made on the Company's regular payroll dates, commencing after the Effective Date of this Agreement (as defined in paragraph 16 below).
- 6. CONSULTING AGREEMENT. You will serve as a consultant to the Company under the terms specified below, from August 1, 2001 until July 31, 2002 (the "Consulting Period").
- (a) CONSULTING SERVICES. You agree to provide consulting services to the Company during the Consulting Period in any area of your expertise (the "Consulting Services") at the direction of the Company's Chief Executive Officer, at the Company's sole discretion. You agree to exercise the highest degree of professionalism and to utilize your expertise and creative talents in performing the Consulting Services. The Company agrees to give you

reasonable notice of the dates and times on or by which the Consulting Services are to be rendered, and you agree to make reasonable efforts to perform such services on or by such requested dates and times. Your compensation for the Consulting Services shall be the severance and continued benefits provided during the Consulting Period under paragraphs 5 and 8 herein.

- (b) INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS. You agree that during the Consulting Period (i) you will be an independent contractor to the Company and not an employee of the Company, and (ii) the Company will not make unemployment insurance or government sponsored disability insurance contributions, or obtain workers' compensation insurance, on your behalf.
- (c) LIMITATIONS ON AUTHORITY. You will have no responsibilities or authority as a consultant to the Company other than as provided above. You agree not to represent or purport to represent the Company in any manner whatsoever to any third party unless authorized by the Company, in writing, to do so.
- (d) NON-COMPETITION. In order to protect the trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information of the Company, you agree that during the Consulting Period you will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Company, own, manage, operate, join, control, finance or participate in the ownership, management, operation, control or financing of, or be connected as an officer, director, employee, partner, principal, agent, representative, or consultant, in any location(s) worldwide, of any entity that directly competes with any Company product currently available, or in development and publicly disclosed, as of the Effective Date of this Agreement (a "Competitor"). If you engage in any such competitive activity without the Company's express written consent, the Company may terminate this Agreement, at its sole election, and the Company's obligations to provide you with any and all compensation and benefits will cease effective as of the commencement date of such competitive activity, subject to the provisions of paragraph 21 below. The foregoing shall not be deemed to prohibit you from holding or acquiring a passive investment of not more than 2 percent of the capital stock of any publicly traded or privately held Competitor, and you agree to provide prompt written notice to the Company of any such investment in any privately held Competitor.
- 7. STOCK OPTIONS. You acknowledge that the Company granted you an option to purchase 60,000 shares of Company common stock on or about December 1, 1998 (the "December 1998 Option"). You and the Company agree and acknowledge that a total of 38,750 shares under the December 1998 Option will be vested and exercisable as of the Separation Date. As part of this Agreement, the remaining 21,250 shares of the December 1998 Option will be accelerated so that all 60,000 shares of such option shall be fully vested and exercisable as of the Separation Date. Additionally, you will have the right to exercise all vested shares of the December 1998 Option for six (6) months after the Separation Date. Except as specifically set

forth in this paragraph, the December 1998 Option will continue to be governed by the applicable stock option grant, stock option agreement and stock option plan.

All other Company stock options you hold (the "Remaining Options") will continue to vest until and ending on the Separation Date. The Remaining Options will continue to be governed by the applicable stock option grants, stock option agreements and stock option plan.

- 8. BENEFITS. You will continue to receive health insurance, special life insurance and disability insurance (other than government sponsored disability insurance), for six (6) months after the Separation Date. The Company will provide these continued benefits by continuing your participation in such benefit plans and/or reimbursing you for the cost of such benefits, in the Company's sole discretion and to the Company's ability consistent with current practices and the terms of the applicable plans. The Company's obligation to provide these benefits will cease immediately if you accept employment with a new employer that provides comparable benefits for which you are eligible. You agree to notify the Company immediately in writing upon your acceptance of such new employment.
- 9. OTHER COMPENSATION OR BENEFITS. You acknowledge that you will not receive from the Company any additional compensation, severance or benefits of any kind (including but not limited to salary, commissions, bonuses or stock option grants) after the Separation Date, except as expressly provided in this Agreement.
- 10. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENTS. You agree that within ten (10) business days after the Separation Date you will submit your final documented expense reimbursement statement reflecting all business expenses you have incurred through the Separation Date, if any, for which you seek reimbursement. The Company will reimburse you for these expenses pursuant to its regular business practice. Also pursuant to its regular business practice, the Company will reimburse you for reasonable business expenses incurred during the Consulting Period, provided that such expenses are routinely reimbursed for executives of the Company and you comply with standard Company requirements relating to expense reimbursement, including but not limited to requirements regarding verification of expenses.
- 11. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. On the Separation Date, you agree to return to the Company all Company documents (and all copies thereof) and other Company property that you have had in your possession at any time, including, but not limited to, Company files, notes, drawings, records, business plans and forecasts, financial information, specifications, training materials, computer-recorded information, tangible property including, but not limited to, credit cards, entry cards, identification badges and keys; and any materials of any kind that contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all reproductions thereof); provided, however, that you may retain your Company cell phone for two (2) months after the Separation Date, and you may retain any such documents or property during the

Consulting Period that are necessary for you to perform the Consulting Services, in the Company's sole discretion.

- 12. COMPANY E-MAIL AND VOICE MAIL. Your Company e-mail and voice mail accounts will remain active for four (4) months after the Separation Date, for the sole purpose of notifying the senders of any such messages of your new contact information, and of the contact information of appropriate Company personnel for Company business matters.
- 13. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OBLIGATIONS. You acknowledge your continuing obligations under your Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (Exhibit A hereto) at all times hereafter, including but not limited to all times during and after the Consulting Period. Among other obligations in said agreement, you agree not to use or disclose, at any time, any confidential or proprietary information of the Company without prior written authorization from a duly authorized officer of the Company.
- 14. NONDISPARAGEMENT. Both you and the Company (by its officers and directors) agree not to disparage the other party, and the other party's officers, directors, employees, shareholders, affiliates, and agents, in any manner likely to be harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation; provided, however, that both you and the Company shall respond accurately and fully to any question, inquiry or request for information when required by legal process.
- 15. RELEASE OF CLAIMS. In exchange for the severance benefits, stock option vesting arrangement and other consideration under this Agreement to which you would not otherwise be entitled, you hereby release, acquit and forever discharge the Company and its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, shareholders, successors, assigns and affiliates, of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, attorneys fees, damages, indemnities and obligations of every kind and nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, known and unknown, suspected and unsuspected, disclosed and undisclosed, arising out of or in any way related to agreements, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to and including the date you sign this Agreement, including but not limited to: any and all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected with your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment; claims or demands related to salary, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the Company, vacation pay, fringe benefits, expense reimbursements, sabbatical benefits, severance benefits, or any other form of compensation; claims pursuant to any federal, state, local law, statute or cause of action including, but not limited to, the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990; the federal Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended ("ADEA"); the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, as amended; tort law; contract law; wrongful discharge; discrimination; fraud; defamation; harassment; emotional distress; and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The releases given herein shall not bar any claim for breach of the terms of this Agreement.

16. ADEA WAIVER. You acknowledge that you are knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights you may have under the ADEA. You also acknowledge that the consideration given for the waiver and release in the preceding paragraph is in addition to anything of value to which you were already entitled. You further acknowledge that you have been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) your waiver and release do not apply to any rights or claims that arise after the date you sign this Agreement; (b) you should consult with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (c) you have twenty-one (21) days to consider this Agreement (although you may choose to voluntarily execute this Agreement earlier); (d) you have seven (7) days following the date you sign this Agreement to revoke the Agreement; and (e) this Agreement will not be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has expired, which will be the eighth day after the date you sign and deliver this Agreement to the Company, provided that the Company has also signed the Agreement by that date ("Effective Date").

17. SUPPLEMENTAL RELEASE. In further consideration of the severance benefits, stock option vesting arrangement and other consideration under this Agreement to which you would not otherwise be entitled, you agree to sign and return to the Company a supplemental release of claims (the "Supplemental Release"), in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, on or after July 31, 2002.

18. WAIVER. In granting the release herein, you acknowledge that you understand that you are waiving the benefit of California Civil Code section 1542, which states:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

You hereby expressly waive and relinquish all rights and benefits under that section and any law or legal principle of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the release of unknown and unsuspected claims granted in this Agreement.

19. CONFIDENTIALITY. The provisions of this Agreement will be held in strictest confidence by you and the Company and will not be publicized or disclosed in any manner whatsoever; provided, however, that: (a) you may disclose this Agreement to your immediate family; (b) the parties may disclose this Agreement in confidence to their respective attorneys, accountants, auditors, tax preparers, and financial advisors; (c) the Company may disclose this Agreement as necessary to fulfill standard or legally required corporate reporting or disclosure requirements; and (d) the parties may disclose this Agreement insofar as such disclosure may be necessary to enforce its terms or as otherwise required by law. In particular, and without limitation, you will not disclose the provisions of this Agreement to any current or former Company employee or any other Company personnel.

- 20. PUBLIC STATEMENTS. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 19 above, the Company will issue a statement or make other public comment on your consulting services within two (2) months after the Separation Date.
- 21. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. To ensure rapid and economical resolution of any and all disputes that may arise in connection with this Agreement, you and the Company agree that any and all disputes, claims, and causes of action, in law or equity, arising from or relating to this Agreement or its enforcement, performance, breach, or interpretation, will be resolved solely and exclusively by final, binding, and confidential arbitration, by a single arbitrator, in San Francisco, California, and conducted by Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Services, Inc. ("JAMS") under its then-existing employment rules and procedures. Nothing in this section, however, is intended to prevent either party from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. The Company shall not terminate any compensation or benefits provided hereunder pending the outcome of such arbitration; provided, however, that in the event the Company prevails in such arbitration on any claim resulting in the termination of such compensation and/or benefits, you will be liable to the Company for an amount equal to the compensation and value of benefits you received hereunder from the earliest date of the conduct giving rise to said claim(s) until the date of the arbitration award.
- 22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, including all exhibits, constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreement between you and the Company with regard to the subject matters hereof. It supersedes and merges any and all agreements entered into by and between you and the Company. It is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein. It may not be modified except in a writing signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Each party has carefully read this Agreement, has been afforded the opportunity to be advised of its meaning and consequences by his or its respective attorneys, and signed the same of his or its own free will.
- 23. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. This Agreement will bind the heirs, personal representatives, successors, assigns, executors and administrators of each party, and will inure to the benefit of each party, its heirs, successors and assigns.
- 24. WARRANTIES. You warrant and represent that there are no liens or claims of lien or assignments in law or equity or otherwise on or against any potential claims or causes of action released herein, and, further, that you are fully entitled and duly authorized to give this complete and final general release and waiver.
- 25. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement will be deemed to have been entered into and will be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California as applied

to contracts made and to be performed entirely within California, without regard to conflicts of laws.

- 26. SEVERABILITY. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, then the remaining terms and provisions hereof will be unimpaired. The court or arbitrator will then have the authority to modify or replace the invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision that most accurately represents the parties' intention with respect to the invalid or unenforceable term or provision.
- 27. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, all of which together constitutes one and the same instrument.

28. CONSTRUCTION. This Agreement will be deemed drafted by both parties, and shall not be construed against either party as the drafter of the document.

If this Agreement is acceptable to you, please sign below and return the original to me. Please sign and return the Supplemental Release (Exhibit B) to me on or after July 31, 2002.

I wish you luck in your future endeavors.

Sincerely,

CLARENT CORPORATION

By: /s/ Charles Spears
----Charles Spears
Sr. Director, Human Resources

Exhibit A Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement Exhibit B Supplemental Release

UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED:

/s/ Peter K. Bohacek
----Peter Bohacek

Date: August 31, 2001

8.

EXHIBIT 10.33

August 10, 2001

David Emerson 2739 Regent Street Berkley, CA 94705

Re: Employment With Clarent Corporation

Dear Name:

Clarent Corporation (the "Company") is pleased to offer you a position as General Counsel, on the terms set forth below. Please indicate your acceptance of these terms by signing where indicated below.

- 1. Reporting and Duties. In this position you will report to Michael Vargo, Chief Executive Officer. This offer is for a regular full-time, exempt position, working out of the Redwood City office of the Company, except as travel to other locations may be necessary to fulfill your responsibilities.
- 2. Initial Compensation. Your initial base salary will be equivalent to \$200,000 per year, payable in accordance with the Company's customary payroll policies on a semi-monthly basis. In addition, you will receive a car allowance of \$1,250 per month (taxable income).
- 3. Incentive Compensation. In addition, you will be eligible to receive a target performance bonus of up to \$60,000 per year, based on achievement of company objectives set by the Board [and personal objectives set by the CEO]. The amount and timing of this payment of bonus, if any, will be determined according to Company policy and subject to the approval of the CEO.
- 4. Benefits. Subject to eligibility requirements, you will be entitled to enroll in the Company's standard employee benefits package, which may be changed from time to time, as determined by the Company's management.
- 5. Stock Option. At the next meeting of the Board of Directors (or its compensation committee) following your start date of employment, the CEO of the Company will recommend that the Company's Board of Directors grant you an option to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company Common Stock pursuant to the Company's Stock Option Plan. If the Board of Directors approves the grant, the exercise price for this option will be the then-current fair market value of the Company Common Stock as of the date of the grant. The option will be exercisable according to the Company's standard 4-year vesting schedule, which calls for an initial vesting of 25% of the total (i.e. 31,250 shares) after the first full year of continuous employment, with the balance of the shares vesting on a monthly basis over the remaining three years.
- 6. Senior Executive Change in Control Severance Benefit Plan (the "Plan"). Enclosed is a copy of the Plan document, which describes the severance benefits available to you in the event of a change in control, should a change occur to your job that triggers the severance benefits as described in the Plan document.
- 7. Confidential Information. As an employee of the Company, you will have access to certain Company confidential information and you may, during the course of your employment, develop certain information or inventions, which will be the property of the Company. As a condition of

employment and to protect the interest of the Company, you will be required to sign the Company's standard "Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement" including Exhibit C, the Company's Insider Trading Policy.

This agreement will require that, among other things, you will not use or disclose any confidential information, including trade secrets of any former employer or other person to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. You will be bound not to bring onto Company premises any unpublished documents or property belonging to any former employer or other person to whom you have an obligation of confidentiality. In performing your duties during your employment with the Company, you will not use or disclose any proprietary information belonging to any former employer without such employer's express written permission. Please let your manager know immediately if you ever are asked to perform any duties which you believe would require you to use or disclose any such information without such permission.

- 8. At-Will Employment. While we look forward to a successful relationship, should you decide to accept our offer, your employment with the Company is on an "at-will" basis. This means that the employment relationship can be terminated by either you or the Company at any time, with or without cause or advance notice. Any statements or representations to the contrary (and, indeed, any statements contradicting any provision in this letter) shall be null and void and of no effect. Further, your participation in any Company stock option or other benefit program shall not be construed as a promise or guarantee of continuing employment with the Company for any particular period of time.
- 9. Authorization to Work. Under the Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), all employers are required to verify the identity of all new employees as well as the employee's right to work in the United States within three business days of the employee's start date. Your offer of employment is contingent on your ability to provide the necessary documentation to the Company in a timely manner to comply with IRCA.
- 10. Company Policies. All employees of the Company will receive a copy of the Company's Employee Handbook that contains the Company's current policies and procedures. Such policies and procedures shall be subject to modification at any time by the management of the Company. As a condition of employment with the Company, you are required to adhere to such policies and procedures, including, without limitation the Company's Alcohol and Drug Free Workplace policy.
- 11. Term of Offer. This offer will remain open until August 14, 2001. If you decide to accept our offer, please sign this letter in the space indicated, and return it to me. Upon signing below, this letter and the Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement (collectively the "Agreement") will form the complete and exclusive statement of your employment with the Company.

This offer of employment is conditioned upon your signing the required forms including, but not limited to, the Clarent Insider Trading Policy and Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement, and satisfactory results of the background investigation to verify past employment, education, references and other relevant information.

12. Entire Agreement, Choice of Law, Severability. The terms and conditions contained in this offer letter supersede any other agreements, promises or representations made to you, whether oral or written and cannot be changed without the express written approval of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Operating Officer of the Company. The terms of this letter shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of

California or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of California. Any term or provision of this letter agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction.

13. Arbitration. Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or in respect of the terms of this letter (or its validity, interpretation or enforcement), the subject matter hereof or your employment relationship with the Company shall, at the request of either party, be settled by binding arbitration in the State of California in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The parties shall have rights to discovery as provided in section 1283.05 of the California Code of Civil Procedure. The prevailing party in any such matter shall recover all of its costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees.

We are excited to have you join us and look forward to working with you. Your anticipated date of hire is Thursday, August 16, 2001.

Very Truly Yours,

/s/ Charles Spears

Charles Spears Sr. Director, Human Resources Clarent Corporation

Acknowledged, Accepted and Agreed

By: /s/ David Emerson Date Signed: 8/12/01

David Emerson

Social Security #: [Social Security Number Redacted] Expected Start Date: 8/16/01 -- 8/20/01

End of Filing

Powered By EDGAR*

© 2005 | EDGAR Online, Inc.